INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfiim master. UMI films the
text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and
dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of

computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy
submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and
photographs, print bieedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment

can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and
there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright
material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning
the original, beginning at the upper left-hand comer and continuing from left to
right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in
one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced
xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6” x 9” black and white photographic
prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for
an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

®

UMI

Bell & Howell information and Leaming
300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, Ml 48106-1346 USA
800-521-0600






CULTURAL LANDSCAPE REPORT FOR
HERKIMER HOME STATE HISTORIC SITE

By
Barbara W. Henderson
A thesis
submitted in partial fulfillment
of the requirements for the
Master of Landscape Architecture Degree
State University of New York

College of Environmental Science and Forestry
Syracuse, New York

December 1998

Approved by
Faculty of Landscape Architecture

m@ L

GWM Professor Dr /Rafaat .Hussein, Chair, Examining
74/ j‘mn'uttee
L S ik .

Richard Hawks, Faculty Chair Dr. Robert Frey, Dean, Instruction and
Graduate Studies







HENDERSON, BARBARA, W. “Cultural Landscape Report for Herkimer Home
State Historic Site.” Typed and bound thesis, 426 pages, 1998.

This Cultural Landscape Report documents the changes in the landscape at Herkimer
Home State Historic Site in Little Falls, New York. The property was originally
deeded to Nicholas Herkimer in 1752, and subsequently belonged to other members of
the Herkimer family until 1814. Site boundaries and owners changed frequently until
1913 when the property was sold to New York State. The site history was divided into
four distinct periods for this report. Features on the site were identified and researched
according to the date of their appearance and a list of character-defining landscape
features. The existing conditions of the landscape and features in 1998 were
documented, and were compared to the conditions during the established period of
significance to provide a basis for analysis and evaluation of the site’s integrity. No
treatment recommendations were made for the site due to the limited scope of the
project.

This report resulted from an agreement with the New York State Office of Parks,
Recreation and Historic Preservation, Central Region, on behalf of Herkimer Home
State Historic Site. The Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation has
perceived the need to document changes in the landscape over a period of time in
order to preserve the integrity of historic landscapes that are often associated with
surrounding architectural elements.

Author’s name Barbara W. Henderson

Candidate for the degree of Master in Landscape Architecture, December 1998.

Major Professor George W. Curry

Faculty Landscape Architecture

State University of New York College of Environmental Science and Forestry,
Syracuse, New York

Signature of Major Professor 2
George W. Curry



Cultural Landscape Report

Herkimer Home State Historic Site
Little Falls, New York

Prepared For:

New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation
Central Region

Littto Falls, XY,

Prepared By:

State University of New York

College of Environmental Science and Forestry

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Syracuse, New York

Research Assistant Barbara W. Henderson, Project Director George W. Curry




Acknowledgments

This project involved the help and cooperation of many individuals in various
capacities. Special recognition is due my major professor, George W. Curry, who not
only generously accepted one more project, but followed through with such grace and
competence. Thanks, also, to the members of my committee, Christine Capella-Peters
and Barbara Giambastiani Bartlett, for their valuable time, thoughtful insights, and
willing support.

The staff at Herkimer Home State Historic Site provided invaluable assistance
throughout the project, especially William Watkins, Site Manager; Harold Estes, Site
Maintenance; and Shirley Green, Receptionist. Thanks also to the Herkimer Home
State Historic Site volunteers that supplied information upon request.

Several people from various New York State Offices are accorded specific
acknowledgement. From the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic
Preservation, thanks to Alice Ohstrom, at Jamesville, for her congenial bureaucratic
support, and to Greg Smith, at Peebles Island, for his enthusiasm and willingness to
find out the answer to any question. Thanks also to Robert Edick, New York State
Canal Corporation, for sharing his maps and knowledge concerning the Erie Canal,
Improved Ene Canal and Barge Canal; to Craig Williams, New York State Archives,
for preparing relevant historical materials and information; and to Gustavo Dallman
for producing the computer maps of the site.

Many thanks to all those who staffed the repositories contacted and visited
during historical research, especially the clerks at the Herkimer County Office, who
often provided details that led to more information about the site, and Ruth Busacker,
Little Falls Historical Society, for her help with historic documentation.

Particular thanks to Kristin for her generous help, and to Paul for his advice.
They both deserve recognition for authoring such fine examples of cultural landscape
reports from which others may benefit.

A very special thanks and grateful appreciation to my family for their patience,
support and love throughout the graduate school experience, and especially during the
course of this project.






TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgment
List of illustrations

Introduction

L Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period (1752-1777)

II. George Herkimer & Heirs Ownership Period (1777-1814)
IIL John Van Orden, et al Ownership Period (1814-1913)

Iv. NYSOPRHP Ownership Period (1913-1998)

V. Analysis

Conclusion

Appendices
Appendix A:
Appendix B:
Appendix C:
Appendix D:
Appendix E:
Appendix F:

Appendix G:
Appendix H:
Appendix I:

Bibliography
Vita

List of Repositories Consulted and Results

Herkimer Family Genealogy

George Herkimer Estate Allotment Chart

Subsequent Sales of George Herkimer’s Estate Lots

Blueprint of Picnic Shelter

Copy of 1971 National Register Nomination Form for Herkimer
Home State Historic Site

Memorandum of Herkimer Home NR/SR Issues

List of Completed New York State and NYSOPRHP Reports
Portion of Central Core from 1935 Map

15
45
67
119
259
349

375
385
389
393
397

401
409

415
419

423

iii






Cover

INTRODUCTION

Figure 0.1

Figure 0.2

Figure 0.3

Figure 0.4

Figure 0.5

CHAPTER 1

Figure 1.1

Figure 1.2

List of Illustrations

Historic photo of the Mohawk Valley with Herkimer
Home on the right. (Herkimer Home State
Historic Site, Research File).

Context Map: New York and Little Falls.
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Location Map: Herkimer Home State Historic

Site within the County of Herkimer, New York.
(Reprinted from “Streets Plus”. Copyright 1988-1996,
Microsoft Corporation and/or its suppliers).

Landscape Features Table. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).

Map showing existing outer acreage and central
core of Herkimer Home State Historic Site.
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Chronological table of Herkimer Home State
Historic Site owners/residents and corresponding
historic periods. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Sketch of Fort Herkimer, ¢. 1756. Robert

B. Roberts, New York's Forts in the Revolution.
(Cranbury, NJ: Associated University Presses,
Inc., 1980), 215.

Herkimer Church, or Herkimer Church Fort,
c.1975. (HHSHS File, Miscellaneous Pictures).

(%)

10

12

19

20



List of ITlustrations

Figure 1.3

Figure 1.4

Figure 1.5

Figure 1.6

Figure 1.7

Figure 1.8

Figure 1.9

CHAPTER 2

Figure 2.1

vi

Map of Lindesay-Livingston Patent, Fall Hill
Patent, and 500 acres deeded to Nicholas

Herkimer in 1760. John G. Waite and Paul R. Huey,
Herkimer House, An Historic Structure Report.
(New York: NYS Historic Trust, 1970), 21.

Map of British strategy for capturing New

York. Nelson A. Rockefeller, et al, The Mohawk
Valley and the American Revolution. (Albany: NYS
Historic Trust, NYS Parks and Recreation, 1972), 1.

Sketch of General Herkimer at the Battle of Oriskany.
From John W. Barber’s Historical and Poetical and
Pictorial American Scenes, 1851.

Land deeded to Nicholas Herkimer in 1760.
From Herkimer House Historic Structures
Report, Map No. 1.

Detail of “A Chorographical Map of the Province of
New York in North America”, by Claude Joseph
Sauthier. London, 1779. Reprinted Albany, 1849.
(Copied from original). NYS Library.

Approximated topography and hydrology at HHSHS
during the first historic period. Redrawn from USGS,
1943. (Henderson, 1997. SUNY CESF).

Section of a map; route between Albany and
Oswego, c. 1757. (Copy from original). Crown
Collection Volume 1, Number 50. NYS Archives.

Map of the Estate of George Herkimer, 1798. NYS
Secretary of State, Field Book 24, Section E,
p. 207. NYS Archives.

22

26

29

30

32

37

48



List of Illustrations

Figure 2.2

Figure 2.3

Figure 2.4

Figure 2.5

Figure 2.6

CHAPTER 3

Figure 3.1

Figure 3.2

Figure 3.3

Figure 3.4

First allotment land apportionment (shaded) of
George Herkimer’s estate, 1798. (Henderson,
1998. SUNY CESF).

Second allotment land apportionment (shaded) of
GeorgeHerkimer’s estate, 1798. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).

Thurd allotment land apportionment (shaded)
of George Herkimer’s estate, 1798. (Henderson,
1998. SUNY CESF).

Detail from the Erie Canal Survey map, 1803.
(Erie Canal Museum, Archives, Syracuse, NY).

Map of property bequeathed to George Herkimer by
Nicholas Herkimer, 1777. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY
CESF).

Land sold to John Van Orden by John Herkimer,
1814 (shaded). (Henderson, 1998. SUNY
CESF).

Newspaper advertisement, 5 May 1821.
Transcription on right. (HHSHS File, Johan
Jost Herkimer I).

Map of Leavitt and Herkimer land, 1834. From John

G. Waite and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House, An
Historic Structure Report (Albany, NY: New York State
Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 6. (Text added by
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Land sold to Daniel Connor by Charles Gray,
Master in Chancery, 1831 (shaded), and by John
and Sarah Herkimer, 1840 (hatched). (Henderson,
1998. SUNY CESF).

50

51

53

55

58

68

69

70

72

vii



List of [llustrations

Figure 3.5

Figure 3.6

Figure 3.7

Figure 3.8

Figure 3.9

Figure 3.10

Figure 3.11

Figure 3.12

viil

Map of Herkimer County, 1857. Redrawn from
John G. Waite and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House,
An Historic Structure Report (Albany, NY: NYS
Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 7. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).

Wood engraving of mansion, 1848. Benson J.
Lossing, Pictorial Field-Book of the
Revolution. (Rutland, VT: Charles E. Tuttle
Company, 1972 [1859]), 260.

Land sold to Fink, Minton and Morehouse by

D. Connor, 1836, known as Fink’s Basin (shaded).
Also, burial ground land sold to Reed, Holmes,
Holmes, Dominick and Herkimer by D. Connor,
1845 (shaded). (Henderson,1998. SUNY CESF).

Map of Herkimer County, 1868. Redrawn from
John G. Waite and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House,
An Historic Structure Report (Albany, NY: NYS
Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 8. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).

Land sold to Morgan Bidleman, 1864, 1865, and
1867 (shaded). (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Map from Herkimer Monument Commission Report,
1896. The square formed by the outer dotted lines

represents the area to be enclosed by a perimeter wall.

(HHSHS File, Cemetery).

Remnant of Little Falls Aqueduct, c. 1823. From
The Mohawk Valley: Its Legends and Its History,
1901, p. 369.

Mohawk River and improved Erie Canal,

at Fink’s Basin, c.1882. Note the island

in the upper middle portion of the photograph.
Virginia B. Kelly, et al. Wood and Stone,
Landmarks of the Upper Mohawk Region.
(Utica: NYS Council on the Arts, 1972), 35.

73

74

75

76

78

79

81

82



List of Illustrations

Figure 3.13

Figure 3.14

Figure 3.15

Figure 3.16

Figure 3.17

Figure 3.18

Figure 3.19

Figure 3.20

Figure 3.21

Figure 3.22

Figure 3.23

Detail of New York State Canal Map, 1920.
(NYS Thruway Authority, Canal Corp.,
Historic Maps).

Bridge #2 across the improved Erie Canal, ¢. 1900
(HHSHS, Research File).

Northeast elevation of the mansion, ¢.1900.
(HHSHS, Research File).

Northeast elevation of the mansion, ¢.1912.
(HHSHS, Research File).

Southwest elevation of the mansion, ¢.1900.
(HHSHS, Research File).

Southwest elevation of the mansion, c.1912.
(HHSHS, Research File).

General Herkimer Monument, cemetery,
large barn #1, small barn and mansion, c.1900.
View is to the northwest. (HHSHS, Research File).

Corn crib, ¢.1900. View is to the southwest.
(HHSHS, Research File).

Sketch of northeast and southeast elevations of
mansion, ¢.1879. The structure visible behind the

left side of the mansion is probably the large barn #1.

F.W. Beers & Co., History of Herkimer County,
New York, With Illustrations. (Ovid, NY: W.E.
Morrison & Co., 1980 [1879]), frontispiece.

Area northeast of mansion used for pasture, c.1900.
(HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 14, HH 1996.40).

Land southeast of mansion used for pasture, from
a sketch by Rufus J. Grider, 1899. (Courtesy of
Montgomery. Co. Dept of History and Archives,
Fonda, NY).

89

90

92

93

94

95

96

97

100

101

102

1X



List of Illustrations

Figure 3.24

Figure 3.25

Figure 3.26

Figure 3.27

Figure 3.28

Figure 3.29

CHAPTER 4

Figure 4.1

Figure 4.2

Cemetery, ¢.1900, looking north. Note the tree just
inside the lower right comer of the wall. (HHSHS,
Research File).

C.1857 entrance road in c.1868. Enlargement from
John G. Waite and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House,
An Historic Structure Report (Albany, NY: New
York State Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 8.

Burial ground/cemetery, with wall and bunal
markers, ¢.1900. View is to the northeast.
(HHSHS, Research File).

Drawing of the northeast and northwest elevations of
the mansion, c.1895. Copy of a drawing by Rufus A.

Grider, 1895, Collection of the New York State Library.

General Nicholas Herkimer Monument, ¢.1900.
The view is to the southeast. (HHSHS, Research
File).

Headstone of General Nicholas Herkimer, ¢.1900.
Other burial markers are in the background.
(HHSHS, Research File).

Map showing acreage sold to People of the State
of New York by Gertrude Bidleman on 31 December
1913. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Remnant of the Little Falls aqueduct, ¢.1972.
Virginia B. Kelly, et al, Wood and Stone. (Utica,
NY: Central NY Community Arts Council, 1972), 33.

103

105

110

111

115

116

120

124



List of IHlustrations

Figure 4.3

Figure 4.4

Figure 4.5

Figure 4.6

Figure 4.7

Figure 4.8

Figure 4.9

Figure 4.10

Figure 4.11

Map of land sold by Gertrude Garlock in 1912

and 1913. Also, land sold to Herkimer Homestead
Commission in 1919, and to the State of New
York in 1971. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Map of five Herkimer Home sites appropriated

by the New York State Thruway Authority in c.

1970 for the thruway access road for Little Falls,
Number 29A. Significant cut and fill alterations
occurred at these sites; cut and fill changes also
occurred at several other locations shown on the map.
Redrawn from NYSOPRHP File, Herkimer Home,
Jamesville, NY. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Map of proposed pedestrian and bicycle trails for
HHSHS. Redrawn from NYSOPRHP File, Herkimer
Home, Jamesville, NY. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY
CESF).

Aerial photo of HHSHS and contiguous property.
(NYSOPRHP File, Herkimer Home, Project
No. 69-125, Exposure No. 2-037, Jamesville, NY).

Map of slopes, soil types, and wetland areas on
property. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Reservoir pool and berm in upper middle
section of photograph, buckthorn hedge in
lower left corner, ¢.1954. (HHSHS, Unit 7,
Box 12, HH 1996.49.1).

Mansion, northeast elevation, after 1914-15
changes, c.1916. (HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 14,
HH 1996.40).

Mansion, southwest elevation, after 1914-15
Changes, ¢.1936. (HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 14,
HH 1996.40).

Southwest elevation of mansion, after 1940s
and 1950s changes, ¢.1950. (HHSHS, Unit 7,
Box 12, HH 1996.28.2B).

128

129

130

131

133

140

141

142

X1



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.12

Figure 4.13

Figure 4.14

Figure 4.15

Figure 4.16

Figure 4.17

Figure 4.18

Figure 4.19

Figure 4.20

Figure 4.21

Figure 4.22

Figure 4.23

Figure 4.24

Xil

Mansion, southwest elevation, after 1960-67
changes, ¢.1970. (HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 14,
HH 1996.40).

Mansion, southwest and northwest elevations ,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Mansion, northeast elevation,1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Root cellar, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Open pavilion, northeast (side) elevation, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Ticket booth, southeast elevation, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Large barn #2/visitor’s center with additions,
c.1954. (HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 12, HH 1996.49.2).

Large barn #2/visitor’s center, northeast elevation,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Large barn #2/visitor’s center, southwest and
southeast elevations,1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Large barn #2/visitor’s center, south end of
northwest elevation, 1997. (Photograph by
the author).

Large barn #2/visitor’s center, north end of northwest

elevation, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Shed/workshop foundation wall, looking
northwest, 1998. (Photograph by the author).

Caretaker’s cottage, southwest elevation, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

143

144

145

146

147

148

150

151

151

152

152

153

155



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.25

Figure 4.26

Figure 4.27

Figure 4.28

Figure 4.29

Figure 4.30

Figure 4.31

Figure 4.32

Figure 4.33

Figure 4.34

Figure 4.35

Figure 4.36

Figure 4.37

Figure 4.38

Caretaker’s cottage, northeast elevation, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Pumphouse #2, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Maintenance building, southeast elevation, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Sugarhouse, southeast elevation, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

North abutment of bridge #2, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Railroad bridge and railing, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Picnic pavilion and root cellar to right of
mansion, looking south, ¢.1930s.
(HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 5, HH 1996.31).

Wood shed, northeast elevation, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Remnant of reservoir pool, looking southwest,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Fuel station, southeast and northeast elevations,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Well and surrounding stone well wall, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Well # 2 near caretaker’s cottage, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Concrete drainage gutter, looking northeast, 1997.

(Photograph by the author).

Map of underground utilities. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).

155

156

157

158

159

160

161

162

163

164

165

166

167

168

Xiil



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.39

Figure 4.40

Figure 4.41

Figure 4.42

Figure 4.43

Figure 4.44

Figure 4.45

Figure 4.46

Figure 4.47

Figure 4.48

Figure 4.49

Figure 4.50

Figure 4.51

Xiv

Retaining wall, looking east, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Culvert under ¢.1972 entrance road, looking
west, 1998. (Photograph by the author).

Canal retaining wall, looking east,
1998. (Photograph by the author).

Retaining wall at large barn #2/visitor’s center,
1998. (Photograph by the author).

Railroad culvert and retaining wall, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

C.1919 entrance road, with encroaching
vegetation, 1998. (Photograph by the author).

The ¢.1919 red oak (Quercus rubra) on left side
of photograph, and shagbark hickories (Carya
ovata) behind oak, looking northeast, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Shagbark hickory (Carya ovata) and hemlock
(Tsuga sp.) along entrance road, looking west,
1998). (Photograph by the author).

Stumps of trees cut along the Mohawk River,

looking west, 1998. (Photograph by the author).

Corridor space vegetation, looking northwest, 1998.

(Photograph by the author).

Historic sugar maple (Acer saccharum), looking
east,1997. (Photograph by the author).

New formal garden vegetation, looking northwest,

1998. (Photograph by the author).

Large barn #2/visitor’s center vegetation, looking

northwest, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

169

170

171

172

174

175

176

177

178

180

182

183



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.52

Figure 4.53

Figure 4.54

Figure 4.55

Figure 4.56

Figure 4.57

Figure 4.58

Figure 4.59

Figure 4.60

Figure 4.61

Figure 4.62

Figure 4.63

Figure 4.64

Parking lot vegetation, looking west, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Parking lot vegetation, looking southwest, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Picnic area vegetation, looking northwest, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Caretaker’s cottage vegetation, looking southwest,
with row of Scotch pines on right, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Bural ground/cemetery vegetation, looking
northeast, 1997. (Courtesy of Harold Estes).

Vegetable gardens, looking east, 1997. (Photograph
by the author).

Maintenance building vegetation, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Circulation patterns for NYS ownership period.
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Portion of ¢.1919 road, looking east, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Main pedestrian circulation in central core during
NYS ownership period. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).

The ¢.1976 formal garden paths, looking northeast,
1997. (Courtesy of Harold Estes).

Path between mansion and large barn #2/ visitor’s
center, looking southwest, 1997. (Photograph by
the author).

Spatial diagram of Herkimer Home during the early
NYS ownership period, ¢.1913-1936. (Henderson,
1998. SUNY CESF).

184

184

185

187

188

189

190

192

193

194

197

199

200



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.65

Figure 4.66

Figure 4.67

Figure 4.68

Figure 4.69

Figure 4.70

Figure 4.71

Figure 4.72

Figure 4.73

Figure 4.74

Figure 4.75

Figure 4.76

Figure 4.77

Spatial diagram of Herkimer Home during the middle

NYS ownership period, ¢.1936-1976. (Henderson,
1998. SUNY CESF).

Spatial diagram of Herkimer Home during the late
NYS ownership period, c.1976-1998.
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).

Service courtyard, 1998. (Photograph by the
author).

Picnic area spatial organization, looking north,
1997.

Parking lot and large barn #2/visitor’s center
spatial organization, looking east, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Spatial organization for east field, looking
southwest, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

C.1919 entrance road fence, looking west, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

C.1919 entrance stone wall, 1998. (Photograph by
the author).

Guard rails along ¢.1972 entrance road, looking
east, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

C.1972 entrance gate, looking north, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Entry sign at Herkimer Home State Historic Site,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Boat dock, looking northeast, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Railroad bridge/culvert with railing addition,
1998. (Photograph by the author).

201

202

206

208

210

211

215

216

217

218

219

220

221



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.78

Figure 4.79

Figure 4.80

Figure 4.81

Figure 4.82

Figure 4.83

Figure 4.84

Figure 4.85

Figure 4.86

Figure 4.87

Figure 4.88

Figure 4.89

Figure 4.90

Figure 4.91

Remnants of railroad ties, looking west, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Railroad fence post, looking west, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Concrete posts, looking west, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Trail fence and marker, looking northeast,
1998. (Photograph by the author).

Farm road gate, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Wood gate, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

“Americorps” bench, 1998. (Photograph
by the author).

Bicycle rack, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Informational sign, 1997. (Photograph by
the author).

Informational sign, 1997. (Photograph by
the author).

Monument fence to left of mansion,
well sweep to right, ¢.1940.
(HHSHS, Unit 7, Box 5, HH 1996.31).

Garden picket fence, looking northwest, 1997.

(Photograph by the author).

Garden storage shelf, 1998. (Photograph
by the author).

Garden storage chest, 1998. (Photograph
by the author).

222

223

224

225

227

226

228

229

230

231

232

233

234

235



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.92

Figure 4.93

Figure 4.94

Figure 4.95

Figure 4.96

Figure 4.97

Figure 4.98

Figure 4.99

Figure 4.100

Figure 4.101

Figure 4.102

Figure 4.103

Figure 4.104

Xviil

Wooden trough, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Wood tripod, looking west, 1997. (Photograph
by the author).

Interpretive cooking area, looking north, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Water fountain, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Wooden tub used as a planter, near main
entrance to large barn #2/visitor’s center,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Wood bench with back on southwest
elevation of large barn #2/visitor’s center,
1997. (Photograph by the author).

Typical trash receptacle near northeast
elevation of large barn #2/visitor’s center,
1998. (Photograph by the author).

Mailbox, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Barbecue stand, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Picnic tables, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Stone barbecue, 1997. (Photograph by the
author).

Boy scout monument, 1997. (Photograph
by the author).

Split rail fence, looking northeast, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

237

238

239

240

241

242

243

244

246

247

248



List of Illustrations

Figure 4.105

Figure 4.106

Figure 4.107

Figure 4.108

Figure 4.109

Figure 4.110

Figure 4.111

Figure 4.112

PERIOD PLANS

Burial ground/cemetery stone wall and
gate, looking east, 1998. (Photograph
by the author).

Naval gun in burial ground/cemetery, 1997.
(Photograph by the author).

Cannon balls in burial ground/cemetery, 1997.

(Photograph by the author).

Herkimer Monument, looking south, 1998.
(Photograph by the author).

Burial ground/cemetery markers, looking
east, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Historical burial ground/cemetery marker,

looking west, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Wood bench along burial ground/cemetery
wall, 1997. (Photograph by the author).

Bird feeder, looking west, 1998. (Photograph
by the author).

(located at the end of Chapters 2, 3 and 4)

Overall Site:

Overall Site:

Overall Site:

Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period

George Herkimer & Heirs Ownership Period
John Van Orden et al. Ownership Period

New York State Ownership Period

249

250

251

252

253

254

255

256

65A

117A

257A

Xix






INTRODUCTION

Herkimer Home is significant as the original homestead and farm of Nicholas
Herkimer, a Revolutionary War era businessman, farmer and soldier of Palatine
German descent. Nicholas Herkimer and his family played a prominent role in the
eighteenth century development of the Mohawk River as a major transportation
corridor to link eastern New York communities with western outposts. The Herkimers
were also pivotal in the evolution of the Mohawk Valley from a barely inhabited
wilderness into a stable rural agricultural area. However, it was Nicholas Herkimer’s
courage as a Revolutionary War general during the Battle of Oriskany that established
his place in American history.

The original 800+ acre property passed to George Herkimer, brother of
Nicholas, after Nicholas died from injuries sustained at Oriskany. George Herkimer
substantially increased the size of the estate to more than 2000 acres, and after his
death the majority of the property remained in the family until 1814. A series of
subsequent owners throughout the nineteenth century greatly altered the previous
boundaries. In 1913 the State of New York officially acquired 149.37 acres of the
property from Gertrude Bidleman Garlock. The Herkimer Home State Historic Site is
currently operated by the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic
Preservation (NYSOPRHP). The site is located approximately 1.5 miles east of the
city of Little Falls, in the County of Herkimer, State of New York (see figure 0.1 and
figure 0.2).

Physical and Historical Overview

In the early eighteenth century, a group of Palatinate Germans settled in the
Mohawk Valley. Among the group was a family named Herkimer, whose members
included George, his wife Magdalena, and their son, Johan Jost. The Herkimers
settled in the Burnetsfield Patent in 1725; the community was later called German
Flats (Flatts). Johan Jost developed relationships with the Native Americans in the
area that proved to be of critical importance. He and his wife, Anna, had thirteen
children; their first son, and fourth child, was Nicholas Herkimer. Johan Jost formed a
freight business, and transported goods as far as Fort Ontario in Oswego, New York.
With his profits from the business, Johan Jost purchased 3000 acres of land in the
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Figure 0.1: Context map: Little Falls, New York. (Reprinted from “Streets
Plus”. Copyright © 1988-1996, Microsoft Corporation and/or its suppliers.)
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Figure 0.2: Location map: Herkimer Homer State Historic Site within the
County of Herkimer, New York. (Reprinted from “Streets Plus”. Copyright ©
1988-1996, Microsoft Corporation and/or its suppliers).
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In 1760 Nicholas Herkimer received 500 acres of land along the Mohawk
River from his father, Johan Jost Herkimer. The land included portions of both the
Lindesay-Livingston and Fall Hill Patents. Nicholas and his wife, Maria Dygert, built
a brick mansion on a hill overlooking the river in 1764. Maria died childless in
c.1774, and Nicholas Herkimer married another Maria Dygert, the niece of his first
wife, in ¢.1776. During Nicholas’ tenure, and probably before, the Herkimer family
used the road just north of the mansion as a part of their commercial freight route.
Agricultural fields were planted on the alluvial river plain, and pastures, gardens and
orchards were also maintained on the site. Dense woodlands comprised the remaining
areas of the property.

After Nicholas Herkimer’s death in 1777, George Herkimer, Nichoias’
youngest brother, lived at the site with his wife, Alida Schuyler, and their children.
Nicholas’ second wife, Maria, also lived in the mansion for approximately one year
until she remarried in 1778. By the time George died in 1788 he had amassed a total
of more than 2000 acres of land. Alida Herkimer had stewardship responsibilities for
ten years, because George had died intestate. After that point the property was divided
among George and Alida’s seven children through an allotment process. John
Herkimer, the eldest son of George Herkimer, was given the Expense Lot, which
included the mansion with thirty-six contiguous acres and the two acre island
northwest of the mansion. Agricultural fields were maintained on the alluvial river
plain until George Herkimer’s death; pastures and orchards were probably extant as
well.

John Herkimer sold 222 acres of property to John Van Orden in 1814. The
property included the Expense Lot, the island and 184 additional acres. John Van
Orden also purchased twelve acres that adjoined the Expense Lot from Peter
Domenick in 1814. In 1818 John Van Orden mortgaged 236 acres to Ann Leverse; by
1825 Ann Leverse had assumed title to the acreage and later that same year sold it to
David Leavitt. When David Leavitt died in 1831, his widow sold 210 acres to Daniel
Connor at a public auction in 1834.

The segment of the Erie Canal located on the property was completed in
c.1823, and its construction greatly altered the functions of the site. In c.1845 the
improved Erie Canal channel, which was only sixty feet north of the mansion,
replaced the original curved channel on the western half of the property. Although
Daniel Connor and his wife, Matilda, maintained a working farm, they also operated a
tavern inside the mansion, and a store along the south side of the new channel. The
Connors managed the property until Daniel’s death in 1860. Daniel and Matilda
Connor’s children inherited the property, and each sold their share separately to
Morgan Bidleman in 1864, 1865 and 1867.
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The New York West Shore and Buffalo Railroad was constructed in ¢.1880
just south of the improved Erie Canal channel and therefore very close to the mansion.
Morgan Bidleman chose to rent the farm to tenants rather than live in the mansion
himself, perhaps because of the proximity of the railroad. Upon his death in 1892,
Morgan Bidleman’s daughter, Gertrude Bidleman Garlock, inherited the property. In
1895, Mrs. Garlock sold two and two-fifths acres of land that surrounded and included
the burial ground to the People of the State of New York, in anticipation of the
General Herkimer Monument being erected on the site.

Gertrude Bidleman Garlock sold five parcels of land, totaling approximately
150 acres, to the State of New York in 1913. The German-American Alliance and the
D.AR. originally managed the site, but in 1914 the General Nicholas Herkimer
Homestead Association was formed and its members had control until 1917. At that
time the Herkimer Home Commission was given management rights by the state
legislature. In 1944, fiscal control of the property was given to the New York State
Department of Education. A series of state agencies administered the site until 1981,
when the Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation assumed control.

The property was maintained as a working farm as well as a historic site until
the 1960s. Building construction, as well as remodeling, and new circulation routes
have altered the property, but the alluvial river plain is still utilized for agricultural
fields. Omnamental trees and shrubs, mown fields and contemporary furnishings are
currently present on the site. Because the historic landscape has not received a level
of attention commensurate with the attention previously given to buildings and
structures, the NYSOPRHP has perceived the need to document and analyze the
historic landscape features. This Cultural Landscape Report will provide that
documentation and analysis, and will be available as a guide for future
recommendations and preservation strategies.

Purpose of Cultural Landscape Report

A Cultural Landscape Report (CLR) is a document that provides a detailed
comprehensive overview of the landscape history, significance and integrity of a
specific property, including character-defining features and comparisons of historic
and present landscapes. Four main sections comprise a complete cultural landscape
report: Site History details landscape evolution as it occurred during important
ownership periods; Existing Conditions lists the current status of character-defining
features within the landscape; Analysis presents a evaluation of the property’s
significance and integrity through comparisons of the historic landscape and existing
conditions; and Treatment Recommendations outlines recommended actions for
long term strategies and future planning decisions. Due to the limited resources and
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scope of this project, secondary sources of information were considered adequate, and
no treatment recommendations were delineated. This cultural landscape report
illustrates the necessity of documenting, in detail, the complete landscape, and its
evolution, as an important feature of the historic resource.

This report is intended to provide a comprehensive document that may be
utilized by the Herkimer Home State Historic Site staff and by the NYSOPRHP for
preserving the historic qualities of the cultural landscape and for future projects at the
site (see Appendix H: List of Completed NYSOPRHP Reports) As far as can be
determined, there is no compilation of the overall history of the landscape at Herkimer
Home State Historic Site.

Methods

There were three main methods used in this report: (1) careful review of
secondary written materials, as well as graphxc and photographic resources, to provide
an accurate historical record of the site;' (2) completion of a field inventory to
document the existing conditions; and (3) comparative studies of the landscape
condition between the historic period of development and the existing condition in
order to determine the significance and integrity of the landscape.

Due to the turbulent nature of the Mohawk Valley area during the seventeenth
and eighteenth centuries, and an unfortunate public archival fire, a relatively small
amount of material was readily available to document the early history of the site. A
thorough investigation of primary and secondary sources concerning the Palatine
German immigrants, the Revolutionary War, the city of Little Falls, and the New York
Canal System was undertaken to determine information relevant to Herkimer Home
State Historic Site. An extensive search was conducted of archival and research
material located at the site, including historic maps, land sale records, wills,
correspondence, historic photos and a household inventory.> Analysis of several
sources provided a serviceable amount of information concerning the evolution of the
landscape, however, due to the limited scope of the project, some assumptions had to
be made without specific documentation.

A detailed topographic survey of Herkimer Home State Historic Site was
completed by Tallamy, Van Kuren, Gertis and Associates, in 1992. Thls topographic
base map was used to document the existing site conditions in 1998, and a current
map was subsequently produced to indicate existing property boundaries and
landscape features. Comparisons of the current map with documented conditions of
the landscape during historic development of the site provided a tool for analysis of
the level of significance and integrity of the existing landscape.



Introduction

An organizational framework for the report was determined by a list of
character-defining landscape features and their distinguishing definitions. These
features and definitions supplied a basis for consistent discussion throughout the
historic periods. The list of features and definitions was adapted from a study
completed in 1993.*

The landscape feature list is based on a descending scale of features from large
to small. In places where a particular feature must precede other features to
consistently describe the landscape, exceptions are made. For example, topography,
buildings, structures, vegetation and circulation define space in the landscape, and
must be presented before spatial organizaticn, an important character-defining
landscape feature for determining significance and integrity of a landscape, can truly
be understood.

A feature presented in one chapter is not necessarily discussed in later chapters
unless more information was available to document that particular feature at a
subsequent time. A Landscape Features Table was created to list the features
documented and discussed in each chapter (see figure 0.3).

LANDSCAPE FEATURES Period 1 Period 2 Period 3 Period 4

1752-1777 1777-1814 1814-1913 1913-1998
ENVIRONMENT
Narural * O QO [0]
SOC“"CIM . L ] . *
LANDSCAPE CONTEXT * . * *
NATURAL SYSTEMS
Physiography * [e] [o] [e]
 Geology . 0 0 .
Hydrology . 6] [0 *
Climate . o . -
TOPOGRA.PHY - » x » . L . L
BUILDINGS * * X * hd hd X *
STRUCTURES ‘X X X X . » » .
Mechanical Systiems X X X X X * * *
Site Engineering Systems X X X X X X * *
VEGETATION X hd X X X * * *
SPATIAL ORGANIZATION X X . . . . * *
Views & Vistas X X X X hd . * he
CIRCULATION * X X - * * * *
WATER FEATURES hd * X X X X X hd
FURNISHINGS & OBJECTS * * X hd X * d hs

KEY * = INFORMATION SOUGHT/FOUND
X = NO INFORMATION FOUND
O = NO INFORMATION SOUGHT

Figure 0.3: Landscape Features Table. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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The general structure of this report was based on the following list of
landscape features:

Environment - the general external influences affecting the historic landscape, the off-site
larger physical and visual context that contains or encompasses the historic landscape.

Natural ~ the natural physical form and features of the surrounding environment that
has or does directly affect the historic landscape (major landforms, ridges/valleys,
vegetation, water bodies, wetlands, etc.).

Social/Cultural — the general human overlay on the physical form of the surrounding
environment that has or does directly affect the historic landscape (general land use,
zoning, legal restrictions, transportation, utilities, population, political jurisdiction —
state, county, city, village, town, etc.).

Landscape Setting (Context) — the most immediate physical and visual context for the
historic landscape (property boundaries, adjacent property, land use, etc.).

Natural Systems and Features — the natural aspects of the landscape often, during the process
of manipulating the landscape, have a direct effect on the resultant form. Different from the
natural context of the “Environment” section, “Natural Systems and Features” pertains to
aspects of the historic landscape that are on the site or directly adjacent to it. The following
natural aspects may be relevant to the historic landscape:

Physiography — the large scale physical forms and patterns of the historic landscape
(hill, plateau, ravine, drumlin, etc.).

Geology - the history and physical nature of the surficial characteristics of the
historic landscape (soils, rocks, structure, etc.).

Hydrology - the cycles and distribution of surface and subsurface water of the
historic landscape (aquifers, drainage patterns, water bodies, water tables, etc.).

Ecology - the relationships of living organisms and their environment in the historic
landscape (plant associations, wildlife habitat, etc.).

Climate ~ the prevailing weather conditions of the historic landscape (precipitation,
sun, temperature, wind, etc.).

Topography - the inextractable framework of the landscape; the three dimensional
configuration of the earth surface characterized by configuration (ground slope, configuration
of contours, visual forms, etc.) and orientation (elevation, solar aspect, etc.) of the landscape.

Buildings and Structures — the elements built primarily for sheltering any form of human
activity are buildings (houses, barns, garages, stables, etc.) and the functional elements
constructed for purposes other than sheltering human activity are structures (bridges,
windmills, gazebos, silos, dams, etc.). Included in this category are mechanical and
engineering systems.
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Mechanical Systems — the features and materials that combine to provide utility
service to the historic landscape (power lines, hydrants, culverts, etc.).

Site_Engineering Systems — the systems and individual features that provide a
physically stabilizing factor to all or a portion of the historic landscape (retaining
walls, dikes, foundations, etc.).

Vegetation - the individual and associated deciduous or evergreen trees, shrubs, vines, ground
covers and herbaceous materials, whether indigenous or introduced. A major component of a
constantly changing historic landscape (specimen tree, hedge, forest, orchard, bosquet,
vegetable garden, agricultural field, perennial bed, etc.).

Circulation - the spaces, features and applied material finishes that constitute the movement
systems of the historic landscape (paths, walks, plazas, squares, roads, parking facilities, etc.).

Spatial Organization — the structure or order of the historic landscape; the three dimensional
organization of physical and visual associations. The organization of elements creating the
base, vertical and overhead plane define and create spaces. The functional and visual
relationship between these spaces is integral to the character of the historic landscape (open
space, enclosed space, corridor space, etc.). Views and vistas are included in this category as
an element of the spatial organization of the historic report.

Views and Vistas — the features that create or allow a view (natural, controlled) or a
vista (a controlled, designed feature). The views or vistas may be to or from the
historic landscape (panoramic view, borrowed view or vista, on-site view or vista,
etc.).

Water Features — the built features and elements that utilize water to create thematic or
aesthetic elements within the historic landscape (fountains, pools, ponds, lakes, cascades,
canals, streams, etc.).

Furnishings and Objects — the elements which provide detail and diversity while addressing
functional needs and aesthetic concerns in the historic landscape (fences, benches, ums,
flagpoles, sculptures, markers, monuments, signs, etc.).®

The Herkimer Home State Historic Site was divided into two major sections in
order to more clearly and comprehensively analyze the features of the property for this
report; these sections are the outer acreage and the central core. This artificial division
of the site was accomplished for discussion purposes only, and is not meant to depict
any actual separation within the site itself. With the exception of the circulation
features, which connect the two sections and are therefore discussed as an entire
system, the features of HHSHS are discussed within the framework of the outer
acreage and the central core. The sections, spaces and subspaces were delineated
according to their general usage during evolution of the landscape, and are not
necessarily representative of any historical differentiation. They are also presented
graphically (see figure 0.4).
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Figure 0.4: Map showing existing outer acreage and central core of Herkimer
Home State Historic Site. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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OUTER ACREAGE: This section was divided into three large spaces: (1) the ravine
and plateau space; (2) the corridor space; and (3) the alluvial river plain space (see
figure 0.4). The ravine and plateau space comprises the northwestern, southeastern
and southwestern edges of the property. It is currently composed mainly of wooded
areas that vary in their density of tree cover, and includes the steep ravine area located
in the westernmost portion of the property, as well as the plateau in the southeast
quadrant that contains the high point of the property. The corridor space, located
between the central core and the alluvial river plain space, includes the linear area that
was used for the early road to the “carrying place”, the Erie Canal channel and
towpath, the improved Erie Canal, and the railroad bed. The alluvial river plain space
forms the northeastern border of the property, and has primarily been used for
agricultural purposes. In general, as far as could be determined, the outer acreage was
not directly connected to the spatial organization associated with the mansion and its
surrounding environs.

CENTRAL CORE: The central core section, located between the corridor space to
the northeast and the ravine and plateau space to the northwest and south, affords a
more detailed description of the features situated near the mansion and its related
outbuildings. This section was divided into two major spaces, the west field space and
the east field space. Each major space was subdivided into three subspaces: the west
field subspaces were: (1) the mansion subspace; (2) the service courtyard subspace;
and (3) the large barn #2 subspace. Subspaces for the east field were: (1) the burial
ground/cemetery subspace; (2) the maintenance building subspace; and (3) the
vegetable gardens subspace. Again, these spaces were differentiated strictly for
discussion purposes, and do not necessarily depict any actual separations on the site.
The spaces and subspaces were delineated according to their general usage during
evolution of the landscape, and are not necessarily representative of any historical
differentiation. If insufficient information was available to determine how spaces or
subspaces were delineated in a particular ownership period, or a portion of that
ownership period, then certain areas were not considered to be specific spaces or
subspaces and were not discussed as such. Because the level of development in the
central core was much more intense than the development in the outer acreage, a more
detailed description of the central core is warranted and has been provided.

Organization of Report

In order to better understand the development and evolution of the landscape at
Herkimer Home State Historic Site, the history of the property was researched to
determine the ownerships involved (see figure 0.5). Based on the documented
information concerning the site, four historic periods of ownership and development

11
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‘owner .| " Cultural Landscape Report Period

1752-1760 Johan Jost Herkimer

Hendrick Herkimer Chapter I: Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period
17601777 Nicholas Herkimer
1777-1778 George Herkimer

Maria Herkimer Chapter lI: George Herkimer & Heirs Ownership

Period

1778-1814 Alida Herkimer & Children
1814-1823 John Van Orden
1823-1825 Ann Leverse
1825-1831 David Leavitt & Wife
1831-1864
1831-1865 Daniel Connor & Heirs Chapter lil: John VVan Orden et al. Ownership
1831-1867 Period
1864-1892
1865-1892 Morgan Bidleman
1867-1892
1892-1913 Gertrude Bidieman Garlock

& William Garlock
1913-1998 New York State Chapter I[V: New York State Ownership Period

Figure 0.5: Chronological table of Herkimer Home State Historic Site
owners/residents and the corresponding historic periods. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).
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were identified. Each of the following periods was organized as a chapter for this
Cultural Landscape Report:

Chapter 1:  Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period (1752-1777)
Chapter II: George Herkimer & Heirs Ownership Period (1777-1814)
Chapter ITI: John Van Orden, et al. Ownership Period (1814-1913)
Chapter IV: New York State Ownership Period (1913-1998)

In the respective chapters of the report, the importance of each period is
revealed. Each chapter discusses the ownership period in detail, and provides site-
specific events as well as material from the relevant cultural events that might have
helped to shape the landscape at Herkimer Home. An historic overview of the
property is furnished at the beginning of each chapter, including the pertinent physical
and social/cultural factors. Following the overview, a detailed description is provided
for each character-defining landscape feature. Illustrations, sketches and photographs
are used to support the text, and a period plan is provided at the end of the second,
third and fourth chapters to graphically illustrate the property status described in the
narrative. 6Thca period plans provided encompass the overall site and are at a scale of
140" =1".

The last chapter is a comparison of the landscape features during the period of
significance and during the existing conditions, and an evaluation of the site’s
integrity. It also contains a review of the statement of significance. Based on a
comparison of the site history and the existing conditions, Chapter V is intended to
provide a basis for future decisions and developments at the site.

A number of helpful appendices are referred to in the text of this report; these

appendices follow Chapter V. A complete list of the appendices is provided in the
contents page at the beginning of the report.
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I. NICHOLAS HERKIMER
OWNERSHIP PERIOD (1752-1777)

Introduction

An overview of the Herkimer family and its importance in the early eighteenth
century development of the Mohawk Valley area surrounding Little Falls, New York,
is key to understanding the landscape of Herkimer Home. Because this development
occurred during a tumultuous historic period that encompassed the American
Revolution, it changed not only the physical appearance of the area, but the cultural
and social manifestations as well.

Herkimer Home State Historic Site is located in the western Mohawk River
Valley, 1.5 miles east of Little Falls, NY. The terrain adjoining Herkimer Home
consists of uneven hills and valleys carved by glaciers during the last Ice Age,
approximately ten thousand years ago. When the immense sheets of glacial ice began
to melt, the rushing waters of a large river continued the scouring process to form the
basic landscape features. Huge masses of stone, precipices, wooded hills and flat
alluvial river plains combine to create a region that Dutch agent Arent Van Curler
described in 1642 as “...the most beautiful land that the eyes of man ever beheld”.!
With native woodlands and the prospect of rich agricultural fields, the rolling hills
made the area very desirable for settlement. The Mohawk River forms the northern
boundary of the property, and became the major transportation route for the
development of this area. The river passes through a narrow gorge at Little Falls, then
spills over moderate cascades of rock before eventually piercing the mountains near
Albany, and flowing into the Hudson River.

From Bavaria to America

Until the beginning of the eighteenth century, the Mohawks, members of the
Iroquois Nation, were the only permanent residents around the “little falls” area.’
Non-native hunters, trappers and traders passed through the valley on their way to Fort
Ontario, located at the Oswego River outlet into Lake Ontario, and on their way back
to Albany, Schenectady, and eventually New York City. However, the first permanent
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non-native American settlements were founded in the early years of the eighteenth
century by a large group of German refugees from the Palatine area of Bavaria in the
Rhine Valley.?

These German refugees and their ancestors had endured more than a century of
war, famine, plague and unreasonable taxation. Seventeenth century Germany was
not a unified country, but a series of separate small states whose leaders fought
endlessly among themselves and tried to copy the opulence of France’s Louis XIV’s
court by demanding high taxes of their subjects. The Peace of Westphalia was signed
in 1648 and ended the Thirty Years’ War that had precipitated much of the fighting,
but not before severe destruction had taken place. Entire villages had been decimated
by a combination of looting, burning, starvation and/or bubonic plague. Many
German families were tired of the constant struggle simply to survive. Combined with
the lack of successful harvests for many of the years following the Treaty, these
factors were instrumental in initiating the migration of the Palatines.

Historians assign six main reasons for the Bavarian Palatinate Germans’ mass
exodus from their country between 1709-1710: religious persecution; the wars of
Louis XIV; bad harvests; weather disasters; influence of advertising by Newlanders:*
and letters from emigrants to relatives and friends in the Fatherland.” It is difficult to
know which of these factors applied specifically to the group that settled at
Burnetsfield or to the Herkimer family in particular, but certainly a combination of
several must have contributed to the decision to immigrate to the New World.

A series of publications called the Golden Books were instrumental in
convincing many families that their future would be assured only in America. Josua
Kocherthal, a Lutheran minister, authored one of the books in 1706; three editions had
sold out by 1709. Kocherthal believed his own rhetoric, and in 1708 he and a
contingent of fifty Palatines, supported by Queen Anne of England, established a
settlement at Newburgh, New York. ¢

The Golden Books were originally intended as advertisements by English
landowners that hoped to populate their vast acreage in America with tenants. They
carried vague details about all the positive aspects a poor German farming family
could expect to find if they moved to the new world, including: no taxes; free land,
free transportation to the land; and all the necessary farming tools.” Thousands of
hopeful Palatinate Germans made their way down the Rhine River to England and
eventually to America. George Herkimer (Herchheimer, Eighimer) was one of the
Palatines who emigrated from Germany to begin his dreams of a better life in the New
World.

16
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George Herkimer and his second wife, Magdalena, came to America in 1709
with their only child, a son named Johan Jost. They left Sandhausen, Germany,
located near Heidelberg, and settled at New Heidelberg, in the province of New York.
New Heidelberg is thought to have been in the Schoharie Valley.®

Johan Jost Herkimer was born in Germany in 1699 and came to America with
his parents when he was ten years old. He took the oath of allegiance for British
citizenship at Albany at the age of approximately 16.° Johan, by all accounts, grew
up to be a large strapping fellow, and earned the nickname ‘Kouari’, meaning the bear,
when he single-handedly lifted one end of a dugout canoe into the water while several
Native Americans struggled with the other end.'® This feat of strength, and his
willingness to help, earned Johan gratitude and respect from the indigenous people,
and probably paved the way for his later friendships and success among the Native
Americans of the Mohawk Valley.

Johan Jost Herkimer married Anna Catherine Petrie sometime before 1722; no
definitive records have been found to confirm the date. They subsequently had five
sons, Nicholas, Hendrick, Johan Jost, George and John, and eight daughters, Gertrude,
Magdalena, Elizabeth Barbara, Delia, Elizabeth, Catherine, Anna and Maria. Nicholas
was the fourth child, and the first son born to the couple.

On 30 April 1725, the Bumnetsfield Patent was signed by many Palatinate
émigrés, among them Jurgh (George) Eighimer (Herkimer), Magdalena Eighimer, his
second wife, Johan Jost Eighimer, and (Anna) Catharine Eighimer, the wife of Johan
Jost. The patent was a fifty-mile long and four-mile wide strip of land located along
both sides of the Mohawk River, at present day Herkimer, NY. The Burnetsfield
Patent was divided into several lots; (Anna) Catherine received Lot #5, Magdalena
received Lot #24, Johan Jost received Lot #36, and George received Lot #44. Johan
and (Anna) Catherine’s lots were on the south side of the river. It is believed that
Johan moved his family to Bumnetsfield Patent Lot #36 sometime shortly before or
during 1725. There is no known record that Magdalena and George Herkimer ever
lived in the Mohawk Valley, even though they owned lots in the Burnetsfield Patent.''

Johan Jost Herkimer built a log house at Burnetsfield on Lot #36 after his
arrival in ¢.1725; the settlement was later called German Flats (Flatts). He owned a
profitable fur trading business, acted as a middleman for the wheat, peas and dairy
products produced by his neighbors, and ‘rode freight’, or in other words, provided a
cargo transportation service. Johan used flat-bottomed riverboats called bateaux, as
well as ox carts, to move freight between the eastern and western New York
settlements. '
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Johan had negotiated a very profitable contract to furnish supplies to Fort
Ontario in Oswego, between 1744-1746. The various necessities for life in an
eighteenth century frontier fort, such as grain, rum, salt pork, candles, clothing and
weaponry, were transported from merchants in Albany to smaller stores or trading
posts in central New York. Johan and his sons bought or traded for the supplies,
portaged them around the little falls, and continued up the Mohawk River until they
reached the ‘carrying place’, located just north of present day Rome, NY. The
“carrying place’ was a stretch of land near the source of the Mohawk River that had to
be crossed in order to reach the next closest waterway, which was Wood Creek."
From Wood Creek, the Herkimers navigated their bateaux across Oneida Lake to the
Oswego River and, finally, to Fort Ontario, located on the hills overlooking Lake
Ontario.

In c.1740 Johan built a two-story stone house just to the east of his original log
house. Fort Herkimer was the name given by the British, and Fort Kouari the name
given by the Native Americans to Johan’s house, which was located on the south bank
of the Mohawk River, just across from present day Herkimer, NY. Approximately 40
feet long and 70 feet wide, the “fort’ had an outer wall thickness that exceeded two
feet. Surrounding the house was a ditch six feet deep and seven feet wide. The house
was further protected from attack by wooden palisades located outside the ditch.
Considered rather small by comparison with other forts in the area, the barricade
measured at least 60 feet by 120 feet.'*

Buildings within the fort included: Johan’s former log home, built in ¢.1725
and located just west of the large stone house; a guard-room/barracks, exact date of
construction unknown; and Johan’s stone house. Slightly north of the barricade was a
blacksmith shop (see figure 1.1). The fort was used as a place of safety for nearby
German families during the numerous raids that occurred during the French and Indian
War (1756-1763), and again during the Revolutionary War (1776-1783).">  Fort
Herkimer was regarded as one of the main defense posts in the Mohawk Valley;
Colonel Marinus Willett made it his secondary headquarters, and both Benedict
Amold and George Washington stopped there to reconnoiter during the course of the
Revolutionary war. '®

The Palatine German families in the area had originally built a log church in
1723 at German Flats (present day Herkimer, NY), just east of Johan Herkimer’s Lot
#36, and in 1740 they started to construct a stone replacement church. In 1751 Johan
finally applied to Governor George Clinton for a license to build the new church.”
Many of the settler’s finances were adversely affected by the French and Indian War,
and the building was not finished until 1767.'® Johan Herkimer’s name was engraved
in a large stone set over the door, since he was a significant contributor to the
construction fund. The church eventually served Native American members of the
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Iroquois nation (Oneidas and Mohawks) as well as German and Dutch settlers, and
was also known as Herkimer Dutch Reformed Church (see figure 1.2).

Records indicate that the church was approximately 58 feet long by 48 feet
wide, and had square buttresses on the corners of the building. The church was one
story in height with a gable roof. Based on the parishioners’ need for a defensive
fortification within their house of worship, a gun was installed in an open tower at the
top of the structure. During the American Revolution the church was protected with
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Figure 1.1: Sketch of Fort Herkimer, c.1756. Robert B. Roberts, New York's
Forts in the Revolution. (Cranbury, NJ: Associated University Presses, Inc.,
1980), 215.
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palisades, and became known as Herkimer Church Fort.!” Herkimer Church Fort was
one-quarter mile west of the original Fort Herkimer.?
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Figure 1.2: Herkimer Church, or Herkimer Church Fort, ¢.1975. (HHSHS
File, Miscellaneous Pictures).

By the mid-1740s, Johan was a wealthy man, and like many of his fellow
German immigrants, Johan rented and purchased land with his profits. On S April
1748, he leased 3000 acres from Edward Holland for a period of one ye:a.r.21 This land
was part of the original Lindesay-Livingston Patent granted by Kin% George II of
England to John Lindesay and Philip Livingston on 24 August 1736.”° Holland had
purchased two 1500-acre adjoining parcels; one parcel was purchased from John
Lindesay, on 7 February 1737, and the other was purchased from Philip Livingston, on
2 March 1738/39. Johan Jost Herkimer, and his son Hendrick, subsequently bought
the land, probably in 1749 or 1750.
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On 13 April 1752 Johan and Hendrick acquired the 2500-acre Fall Hill Patent,
which was adjacent to the west side of the parcel purchased from Edward Holland**
(see figure 1.3).  This sale gave the Herkimers exclusive control over the crucial
“carrying place” around the “little falls”* Fall Hill was the name given to the steep
terrain along the southern side of the river; this was the area that had to be portaged by
traders and others who were traveling both east and west on the Mohawk River around
the falls. On 16 May 1760 Johan deeded 500 acres of land to his son Nicholas
Herkimer. The property was composed of parcels from both the Lindesay-Livingston
Patent and the Fall Hill Patent, and was bounded on the north by the Mohawk River
(see figure 1.3).26

The Herkimers rented animals, sleds, bateaux and labor to those people who
transported goods up and down the river. In addition, they founded a successful
combination trading post and retail store that was located close to the carrying place.”’”
Johan Jost also reportedly ran a brisk rum trade, which some complained made it
harder to control various factions of the Iroquois Nation. It is possible that Johan
billeted English troops in his home, probably at the barracks, and charged the
government handsomely for his services.

By the early 1770s, the Herkimer family was highly respected in the German
settlements. Johan Jost Herkimer served as a colonial Justice of the Peace, as did three
of his sons-in-law; John Frey, Peter Ten Broeck, and Rudolph Shoemaker all married
daughters of Johan Jost (and later served as Justices of the Peace). In 1773 Johan was
elected as a supervisor for the German Flats district of the newly created Tryon
County.”® He was regarded as a leader of the German community and commanded
power second only to the Johnson family in the Mohawk Valley.

William Johnson, the nephew of a British Admiral, was a business rival of
Johan Jost Herkimer and his son Nicholas. Johnson arrived in America in 1738 as the
manager for an uncle’s speculative land claims. During the next few years, Johnson
bought land of his own, and used his considerable personal charm to establish strong
ties with the local Mohawks, who had been Anglicized by Queen Anne’s missionaries
in the late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries. His friendship with Hendrick,
the Mohawk chief, enabled Johnson to cultivate other Iroquois members in setting up
very profitable trading schemes. His apparent delight and personal participation in
Native American customs and games made him an important favorite of the
Mohawks; he often hosted entertainment at his house and joined in council fires at
local villages.”

Through various business dealings associated with Johan Jost Herkimer,

Nicholas Herkimer was acquainted with William Johnson. Nicholas and William
apparently became close friends, even though Herkimer was thirteen years younger.
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-

The Herkimer family had been residents of the Mohawk Valley for fifteen years when
Johnson arrived, but they did not have the financial backing of a rich Englishman; they
had made their own fortune. In the 1760s William Johnson built Johnson Hall, an
imposing brick mansion, several miles east of Little Falls in present day Johnstown.
Nicholas Herkimer probably had a dwelling on a bluff overlooking the Mohawk River
as early as 1752, but he constructed his large brick house in c.1764.
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Figure 1.3: Map of Lindesay-Livingston Patent, Fall Hill Patent and 500-acre
parcel deeded to Nicholas Herkimer. John G. Waite and Paul R. Huey,
Herkimer House, An Historic Structure Report. (New York: NYS Historic
Trust,1970),21.
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Along with other prominent men from the area, in 1766 Nicholas joined the
Masonic Lodge that William had established.”® Both men enjoyed a standard of living
that exceeded the average for the time, and because they had proven themselves
worthy of trust, both also had a loyal contingent of Native Americans. However,
different ethnic backgrounds, combined with family and political loyalties, would
carry them to opposing sides in the Revolutionary War.

The first historic period of Herkimer Home State Historic Site began in 1752.
An overview of the history for the first ownership period follows. Due to the lack of
available material, few details of the property’s character-defining landscape features
can be documented. Therefore, certain logical assumptions have been made
concerning features that are believed to have existed.

Overview (1752-1777)

The initial historic period of Herkimer Home State Historic Site began in 1752,
when Nicholas Herkimer was believed to have first established a farmstead on land
that was actually owned by his father, Johan Jost Herkimer. One tenure of ownership
is included in this period, that of Nicholas Herkimer, who began in 1760 to build a
large brick house on a 500-acre parcel of land deeded to him by his father on 16 May
1760.°' In August of 1777, this historic period ended upon the death of General
Nicholas Herkimer.

Nicholas Herkimer Stewardship

Nicholas (1727-1777) was the first son of Johan and Anna Catherine
Herkimer. Relatively little is known in detail about his early life, but there is evidence
that he helped his father in the fur trade and other economic endeavors. He was a
farmer, tavern keeper, and trader.*> His fairness and honesty in trading gained him
respect with Native Americans, and his brave defense of Fort Herkimer during a
French raid in 1758 also endeared him to fellow German settlers in the valley.” In
1752, on land owned by his father, he established a farmstead that consisted of some
type of dwelling and possibly some structures for animals. When his father deeded
him 500 acres in 1760 that included parts of both the Lindesay-Livingston and Fall
Hill Patents (see figure 1.3), he proceeded to build a large Georgian-style brick house
on a small rise with a view of the Mohawk River to the north. **

His first wife, Maria Dygert, (c.1730-c.1774) was the daughter of Severinus

and Maria Dygert, also of German origin.>*> Maria and Nicholas were married
sometime before 22 January 1760, and were frequent sponsors of baptisms at the
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Dutch Reformed Church of German Flats during the years between 1760 and 1771,
but had no children of their own. Maria died in ¢.1774 of unknown causes. At some
time before 28 August 1776, Nicholas married his former wife’s young niece, also
named Maria Dygert (¢.1757-unknown); the couple again had no children.*

Nicholas Herkimer was probably the richest and most prominent member of
the German-American community in the Mohawk Valley during the years preceding
the Revolution. He was active locally in civic affairs and gained military experience
as a militia captain during the French and Indian Wars. When the Revolutionary War
started, he chose the patriot’s side and was elected Chairman of the Tryon County
Committee of Safety as well as being a commissioned brigadier general.”’

On 4 August 1777, the British invasion on New York loomed ominously close
to the Mohawk Valley. The British were preparing to launch a three-pronged attack
on New York that would hopefully drive a wedge between the New England and
Middle Atlantic colonies and swiftly end the Revolution. Lieutenant Colonel Barry
St.Leger was to move east from Oswego, travel through the Mohawk Valley, and
eventually meet with General William Howe, who was heading north from New York
City. General John Burgoyne’s main force would move south from Montreal by way
of Lake Champlain and the Hudson River. It was hoped that the three commanders
would join in Albany, and would therefore be able to control the crucial main
transportation routes leading east and west. Through a series of poor communications
and lost battles, this strategy never reached fruition. St. Leger led his troops to Fort
Stanwix, where he believed the patriots would offer little resistance, especially since
he had no intelligence reports to the contrary. He did not know that Fort Stanwix,
abandoned after the French and Indian War, had been re-fortified in preparation for an
English invasion *® (see figure 1.4).

Warned by friendly Oneidas that the enemy was coming, Herkimer managed to
persuade 800 men and boys to march with him to defend nearby Fort Stanwix from an
attack by British Colonel Barry St.Leger. The volunteer army marched for several
days and hoped to join with reinforcements before encountering a battle. In a ravine
west of the fort near the Native American village of Oriskany, Herkimer and his men
were ambushed, by British Loyalists and sympathetic Iroquois troops, on 6 August
1777. In spite of the fact that General Herkimer’s leg was seriously wounded in the
first volley of gunfire, he commanded his army from the hilltop, while propped against
the saddle taken from his dead horse (see figure 1.5). He managed to withstand six
hours of fierce combat, until the disheartened Iroquois and British began to desert the
battle. In terms of casualties, the battle was one of the bloodiest fought in the
Revolutionary War.*® Herkimer was carried several miles to his father’s house at Fort
Herkimer to rest and recoup his strength before returning home. Nlcholas Herkimer
died in his bed on 16 August 1777 from a poorly performed amputatlon He was

24


https://amputation.40
https://children.36

Chapter I: Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period

unknown.

1752-1777
buried in the family burial ground, southeast of the mansion, but the exact location is
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Figure 1.4: Map of British strategy for capturing New York. Nelson A.

Rockefeller, et al, The Mohawk Valley and the American Revolution. (Albany:
NYS Historic Trust, NYS Parks and Recreation, 1972), 1.
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Sketch of General Herkimer at the Battle of Oriskany. From John
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specific claim to the

Lacking natural heirs, Nicholas left the bulk of his estate to his brothe

Herkimer. He provided his widow with the use of half the house,

room in the northeast corner on the first floor, 150 pounds, rents and issues from over

800 acres, 100 acres of woodland, livestock,

In the

41
context of the eighteenth century and the lack of women’s legal rights, Nicholas willed

household goods, one African-American

servant, one-quarter acre of garden, several apple trees, firewood and water.
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the majority of his possessions to his sibling, rather than his wife. It was probably
assumed that she would remarry, especially given her young age when widowed.*?

Maria Dygert Herkimer lived in the house with George and his family for
approximately one year after her husband died. She relinquished her claim for the use
of the room in the northeast corner of the house in 1778 to George Herkimer for
«...One Hundred Pounds, New York Currency, and Fifty Skipple of Wheat...”"
Maria kept several sheep, hogs, horses, cows and one African-American woman. She
also chose to retain a 100 acre woodland tract, and the right to the “...Issues of the
Lott of three Hundred Acres, leased unto Charles Gordon...” for the remainder of her
natural life.**

Maria subsequently married a soldier named Johan Jost Crouse (1756-c1834),
probably in ¢.1780. The couple had two children, Catharina (1781-?) and Johan Jost
(1784-‘.7)."'5 Maria and her husband are believed to have lived in the Herkimer area
from 1783 to 1795 and at Canaseraga (now Chittenango) in Madison County from
1795 to 1798. The elder Crouse moved to Canada sometime after 1798, ostensibly to
escape debt. No information was found to document what happened to Johan Jost
Crouse after he moved to Canada. It is thought that Maria remained in Central New
York for several years after her second husband left the area. Papers from the Forman
collection at Lorenzo State Historic Site show that Maria bought certain household
items in Cazenovia, and other sources suggest that she was a cook at a tavern in that
area before she remarried and moved to Canada, most likely sometime after 1802.*
During the research for this report, no information was found to document the name of
Maria’s third husband, her subsequent whereabouts, or the fate of Maria and her
children.

Environment

Social/Cultural — Before the arrival of white settlers from Europe, the Mohawk
Valley was considered the land of the Iroquois Nation. These indigenous people
hunted, fished and farmed, and formed ‘Castles’, or fortified central communities.
During the early part of the eighteenth century, the strategic value of the Mohawk
Valley and the Mohawk River became apparent to several different non-native groups.
The French, Dutch and English recognized the importance of the Mohawk River as a
major trade and transportation route to the interior of North America. Rapidly
increasing fur trades prodded hunters and trappers to move farther west, and infringed
on lands claimed by Native Americans. Jealously guarding their newly discovered
riches, various nations erected forts at crucial locations along waterways leading from
the Hudson to the Great Lakes. Ownership of carrying places was particularly highly
valued because of the economic prosperity that resulted from their constant use.
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Immigrant settlements gradually encroached on the wilderness and caused conflicts
between different cultures; the French and Indian War (1756-1763) was one of the
longest of these battles.

As speculators and developers tried to optimize opportunities, small outposts
became settlements, and settlements became small towns. Tradesmen, farmers,
blacksmiths, preachers and soldiers made their homes along the banks of the Mohawk
River, and their hard work and persistence paved the way for other settlers. Brtish
patent law prevented colonists from buming or otherwise wasting precious timber, and
also required cultivation of a minimum six percent of farmable land within three years.
Many German families, in particular, pursued agricultural occupations. Mills were
built on streams to process the grain raised, while roads, churches and forts were built
as symbols of permanence and security.

Before 1772, the area including the “little falls” and the community of German
Flats was part of Albany County. In 1772, Tryon County was carved out of Albany
County, as part of the Canajoharie District. The Tryon County Committee of Safety
was formed in the early 1770s by people who were against the constant interference
by the British, and wanted to govern themselves, while the Tryon County Militia was
inaugurated to protect patriots from attacks by British sympathizers and their Native
American supporters. Many Native Americans tried to guess who would be the
ultimate victors in the coming conflict, and began to align themselves with their
choices.

By the middle of the eighteenth century, the Herkimer family was wealthy and
generally well respected. The end of the French and Indian War brought a short
period of prosperity, which allowed the area to gather its resources before the next
struggle. Unfortunately, along with thousands of other settlers in colonial America, the
advent of the American Revolution would cause many changes for the Herkimers and
inhabitants of the Mohawk Valley region. Families and friendships would be split
asunder because of individual decisions to maintain loyalty to the Crown of England,
or to give support to the growing numbers of fellow countrymen who believed that
independence from England was no longer a wish, but a necessity.

Landscape Context
In order to ascertain the physical and visual context of Herkimer Home, as well

as establish the property limits and acreage, the landscape context contains
descriptions of the site and some adjoining properties.
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During the first historic period, the property limits of Herkimer Home were
delineated. In 1748 Johan Jost Herkimer leased 3000 acres of the original Lindesay-
Livingston Patent from Edward Holland for one year, and probably bought the land
soon after the lease expired. In 1752, Johan and his son Hendrick acquired the Fall
Hill Patent, which adjoined the 3000 acres already owned. Nicholas Herkimer
received a deed, for 500 acres, from Johan Jost Herkimer in 1760.

This 500-acre parcel included sections of both the Fall Hill Patent and the land
bought from Holland. Located on the south side of the Mohawk River, the tract
contained a large flat expanse of land contiguous to the niver, and also included a
small island of approximately two acres in the river itself. The deed specified the
necessity of maintaining an open route across the land to accommodate a “wagen or
Slea Routh” to the landing place and the little falls (see figure 1.6).*

A patent granted to Jacob Timberman and Johan Jost Schnell in 1755 on the
north side of the river makes reference to “...a young walnut tree marked on three
sides standing opposite to the dwelling house of Johan Nickoll Herchheimer”.*®
Nicholas Herkimer had built a home on the Lindesay-Livingston Patent (see figure

1.6), probably to establish a farm and cultivate the acreage required by British law.
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Figure 1.6: Land deeded to Nicholas Herkimer in 1760. From Herkimer
House Historic Structures Report, Map No. 1.

29



Chapter I: Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period 1752-1777

Land to the south and east of the Herkimer holdings was owned by C.J.
Vanghan (see figure 1.7).* To the west were several small lots with river frontage;
the owners of these lots are unknown.
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Figure 1.7: Detail of “A Chorographical Map of the Province of New York in
North America”, by Claude Joseph Sauthier. London, 1779. Reprinted
Albany, 1849. (Copied from original). NYS Library.
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Natural Systems & Features

Natural systems and features of the property had a significant effect on the way
Herkimer Home was used and developed. Physiography, geology, hydrology and
ecology all had a moderating influence on the location of the house and general
organization of the property. Climate also played a role since the site was used
agriculturally.

Physiography — The original property was located on a flat alluvial river plain
that gradually ascended from the Mohawk River to a relatively level plateau, and then
continued to a fairly steep rise on the south and southeast. Near the western boundary
a deep, narrow gorge ran through the property on an approximate north-south axis.

Geology — The Appalachian Upland landform region is situated on a base of
Paleozoic sedimentary rock. Surface rock composition of the area that included
Herkimer Home is mainly Hamlin, Wayland and Teel soils on the alluvial river plain.
Hills and ridges around the German Flats, or present day Herkimer, and Little Falls
area, with slopes that ranged from approximately 4:1 to 2:1, were probably composed
primarily of Howard and some Broadalbin soils. The soil located on the steepest
slopes, 2:1 to 1:1, was rough broken soil, with varying textures and consistencies.

In general, the soils around the property were adequate for cultivation
wherever the slope was not too steep. Soil in the alluvial niver plain sections was
usually richer than soil found on upland terraces, although not as rich as soil located
on the alluvial plains of the lower Mohawk River. Because much of the land was
suitable for pasture, farming was a common agricultural practice.

Hydrology — The physiography of the area had a major influence on the
hydrology of the property. Contiguous to the northern boundary of the Herkimer
property for more than 9000 feet, the Mohawk River was the largest hydrologic
feature in contact with the property. Other main hydrologic features included the
small creek located in the western portion of the property at the bottom of the deep
gorge. The creek was approximately one half mile in length as it wound through the
property; no information is available at present to document the width of the creek or
the volume of water it contained in this ownership period. It is possible that a grist
mill was located somewhere along its length, which would indicate a fairly large
volume of water was present, but this has not been documented.

Another small creek marked the northeast corner of the property and continued
for a short distance along the boundary line on the eastern side. No documentation
was found in the course of the research that would describe the nature or size of this
hydrologic feature during the historic period (see figure 1.8).

31



Chapter I: Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period 1752-1777

—~ ~ _—— Creek

et l S, S
SRS

;7-  Alluvial River Plain

B Mansion

North ‘

NTS

Figure 1.8: Approximated topography and hydrology at Herkimer Home State
Historic Site during the first historic period. Redrawn from USGS, 1943.
(Henderson, 1997. SUNY CESF).
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A small spring is thought to have been present on the site, approximately 250
feet east and slightly north of the current mansion location. No information is
presently available to determine the size or volume of water present in the spring
during the first ownership period.

Topography
OVERALL SITE:

There were three main topographical features on the property during the first
historic period. Moving from north to south, the first feature encountered was the flat
alluvial river plain. The plain rapidly ascended to a fairly steep slope on the
northeastern half of the property, and ascended more gradually on the northwestern
side. Beyond the steep slope was a plateau that contained the high point of the
property. A third topographical feature was the deep ravine on the western part of the
property. The ravine was on a generally north/south axis.

OUTER ACREAGE:

The alluvial river plain north of the mansion ranged from 330 to 340 feet in
elevation. The fairly steep rise of the hill south of the plain consisted of positive
slopes ranging from 5 to 50%. Beyond the steep slope was a relatively level plateau
with a high elevation of approximately 420 to 430 feet. The ravine had a bottom
elevation of +/- 350 feet and a top elevation of +/- 400 feet.

CENTRAL CORE:

The mansion and outbuildings were located on the lower northemn portion of
the gentle rise overlooking the alluvial plain and the river. A high point of +/- 370 feet
was located to the south of the mansion. The area immediately surrounding the
buildings was probably somewhat level or gently sloped upward toward the south,
with an average elevation of +/- 355 feet (see figure 1.8).

Buildings and Structures
OVERALL SITE:
Three buildings were positively documented on the property during this

period; the Timberman/Schnell Patent mentions the “dwelling house™; % and a brick
mansion and grist mill are specifically referred to in Nicholas Herkimer’s will.’! A
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root cellar and an outbuilding were also believed to have been located near the
mansion.’® It is probable that other outbuildings or structures existed, but no
documentation was found during research to verify this assumption.

OUTER ACREAGE:

It is not known if any buildings were located on the outer acreage of the
property; however, the possibility exists that some were present in the first historic
period. Number, size, shape and materials cannot be documented at this time.

Grist Mill — A grist mill might have been located on the property. A letter to
Nicholas Herkimer from Ebenezer Cox in June of 1774 describes details of a proposed
mill. The mill itself was to be 60 feet long by 30 feet wide and water wheels were
intended to be inside the structure.”® In Nicholas Herkimer’s will a reference is made
to a Johannes Bierhausen, the miller of Herkimer’s grist mill on Lot No. 8 in the
Edward Holland Patent.>* Based on the content of Herkimer’s will, it is assumed that
the mill was constructed, but the exact location of this mill has not been determined
because the location of Lot No. 8 was not documented during research for this report.

An archaeological study was conducted in 1971 when old brick and stones
were discovered during reconstruction of the entrance road. Because materials had
already been displaced, it was impossible to tell exactly what was present on the site.
It was postulated that the ruins might have been from a late eighteenth to mid-
nineteenth century barn or similar structure.*

CENTRAL CORE:

Original Dwelling — The original dwelling was probably constructed after
1752, the exact date and location are unknown. It is possible that the mansion was
constructed on the foundation of the original dwelling, but it was not documented
during research for this report. The original dwelling was probably rectangular. No
documentation concerning exact shape, size, material or color was found during
research for this report.

Mansion ~ The most significant building at Herkimer Home during the first
ownership period was the mansion. Construction of the mansion probably began in
1760, and it was probably completed in 1763-64. No information was found during
research for this report to document the architect or designer of the mansion.

Located on a slight rise +/- 1000 feet from the banks of the Mohawk River, the

mansion was built on an east/west axis. Although no documentation was found during
research to explain the orientation, it is presumed that the mansion was sited to take
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advantage of the view across the river, and also to be seen from the river, since it was
a main avenue of travel during the first historic period.

The two-story rectangular mansion, 60’ long (NE/SW) by 35° wide (NW/SE),
was constructed of load bearing brick exterior walls. The walls rested on a stone
foundation. A door, located in the center of the first floor of the north elevation, was
flanked by two windows on either side. There were five windows on the second floor:
one was just above, and on an axis with, the centrally located door; the other four were
on axes with the four windows on the first floor. A porch or J)iazza was attached to
the north elevation; the porch was supported by wood pillars.® It is thought that the
south elevation was similar to the north elevation in design and appearance. A side
gable roof with two chimneys was surmounted on the exterior walls. The roof was
covered with gray slate. The Georgian architectural style of the mansion was popular
among affluent landowners in the nearby Hudson Valley, particularly because the size
and material clearly denoted the wealth and stature of its owner.>’

Root Cellar — The root cellar was probably constructed in ¢.1764. It was
located 30 feet southwest of the mansion. The interior of the root cellar was
rectangular, approximately 20° long (NW/SE) by 13’ 6” wide (NE/SW).®® The
exterior wall was an undetermined length and height. No information was found
during research for this report to document material and color.

Outbuilding — The outbuilding was probably constructed in ¢.1764. It was
probably located approximately 90 feet southeast of the mansion; the exact location is
unknown. The outbuilding was probably rectangular in shape, and probably
approximately 40° long (NE/SW) by 30’ wide (NW/SE).”® No documentation was
found to describe the material or color of the outbuilding.

It is assumed that other outbuildings were present during the first historic
period. At the very least, barns and slave quarters were presumably in the area near
the mansion. It is known that Nichoias Herkimer farmed a portion of the land, and his
will indicates ownership of horses, cows, sheep, hogs and several slaves.®® Size,
location, number and materials of any other outbuildings are not known at this time.

It has been suggested that the bricks used for the construction of the Herkimer

mansion were made in kilns situated on the property.®® No other documentation was
found during research to confirm the presence of the kilns.
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Vegetation
OVERALL SITE:

Little documentation is available concerning vegetation in the first historic
period. Because Nicholas Herkimer was known to be a successful farmer, he probably
grew crops for his agricultural animals, and for sale to other farmers. Nicholas
Herkimer’s will states the existence of gardens and apple trees, but no information has
been found to explain their size, number or location. A formal garden might have
been present just northeast of the mansion.®?

OUTER ACREAGE:

It is probable that some fields were cultivated to produce crops, particularly on
the alluvial river plain, as evidenced by a statement from an anonymous British officer
in May of 1767, * ... we arrived at young Mr. Horskyman’s house which is pleasantly
situated on a rising ground above a most beautiful farm which extends on a fine flat to
the river”.® It is also probable that wooded areas contained a mix of native hardwood
tree species as well as native under story plants.

CENTRAL CORE:
West Field Space:
MANSION SUBSPACE: No documentation was found during research for this report

to describe any plantings that may have been in the area immediately surrounding the
mansion.

Formal Garden — It is likely that vegetables and herbs were grown in the
formal garden, if it existed, and possibly some flowers. However, no information was
found during research for this report to document any plant material that might have
been used.

East Field Space: No information was found concerning vegetation in the east
field space for the first ownership period. While it is likely that pasture grasses and
some trees might have been present, it was not documented during research for this
report.
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Circulation

Due to seasonal flooding or drought and the presence of many rapids, the river
was unreliable for year round transportation. By 1742 a legislative act had been
passed to clear, regulate and lay out more roads in the county of Albany.** Roads
were built and improved to handle the increased traffic as more settlers immigrated to
the Mohawk Valley. One of the main roads from Albany to the western settlements
apparently ran along the north side of the Mohawk River during the early part of the
historic period (see figure 1.7). It passed through the communit;' of German Flatts and
continued west to the Wood Creek Portage site, west of Rome.®

Road makers, known as pathmasters in the eighteenth century, were public
officials charged with the design and maintenance of roads in their locality.
Pathmasters preferred to build roads on fairly high ground so precipitation could drain
off rapidly, therefore ensuring that teams and wagons did not get stuck in the mud.
This might explain why the main route from Albany to Oswego was south of Nicholas
Herkimer’s house, on land well above the river and possible flood levels (see figure
1.9).
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Figure 1.9: Section of a map; route between Albany and Oswego, c.1757.%
(Copy from original). Crown Collection, Volume I, Number 50.
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Farmers often put up gates where public roads entered and exited their land to
keep livestock from straying. Travelers along the road were obligated to open and
close the gates as they journeyed east or west. This practice certainly caused delays,
but the alternative was worse. Thick undergrowth and dense forests covered large
portions of the land, thus makin_’g it almost impossible to transport wagons and goods
where roads had not been built.®

Little documentation exists to explain the circulation patterns present at
Herkimer Home during the first historic period. It might be assumed that a certain
hierarchy evolved during development of the property, but no information has been
found to confirm this hypothesis. An entrance road probably connected the mansion
to the main thoroughfare that was located south of the mansion, and a secondary road
probably connected the mansion to the “slea routh”. A road or path probably
connected the mansion with the alluvial river plain and ultimately, with the Mohawk
River. The exact placement of these roads in the landscape is unknown.

“Slea Routh™ — The “slea routh” was probably constructed in ¢.1757. This
was the ‘wagen or Slea Routh’, referred to in the deed from Johan Herkimer to
Nicholas Herkimer in 1760, that had to be kept open for commerce reasons. It
traversed the property from east to west; at its midpoint the “slea routh” was located
just north of the mansion, then it turned south for several hundred feet before once
more heading north toward the river (see figure 1.6). The “slea routh” section on the
property was approximately 2500 feet long; the width is unknown. No information
was found to document materials but it probably consisted of compacted soil. It is
assumed that the wagon route eventually became the ‘land carriage’, or the road used
to circumnavigate the falls a few miles to the west. The Herkimer’s owned the land on
which this road was built, and probably maintained it.

Original Entrance Road — The original entrance road was probably constructed
in c.1764; the exact date is unknown. It ran between the mansion and the main route
from Albany to Oswego, which was located to the southeast. The original entrance
road was relatively long and fairly straight, running on a north/south alignment (see
figure 2.1). It was approximately 2000 feet long (NW/SE) and probably not more than
six feet wide (NE/SW). No information was found during research for this report to
document size or surface materials of the road.

Garden Paths — The garden paths, if they existed, were probably constructed in
c.1764; the exact date is unknown. They were probably located within the formal
garden northeast of the mansion.®® The north/south garden paths might have been
aligned with the central axis of the mansion and therefore divided the east and west
quadrants of the garden. The east/west paths might have been perpendicular to the
north-south paths and therefore divided the north and south quadrants. A separate
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path around a central circular garden might have bisected the intersection of the other
paths. The garden paths might have been approximately 25° wide. No information was
found to document the surface materials of the paths during research for this report.

It is also likely that secondary roads or paths connected the various
outbuildings to the mansion and to each other. No information was found during
research for this report to verify these roads and paths.

Spatial Organization/ Relationships

Characteristics of an historic landscape are defined by the three-dimensional
organization of visual and physical forms. Various spaces in the landscape are created
by elements in the base plane, vertical plane and overhead plane. These elements, the
spaces created by them and the relationship between these spaces form the spatial
organization of the property. Spatial organization of the central core ai Herkimer
Home was different from the organization of the outer acreage throughout its historic
development. The spatial characteristics of the central core were more highly
articulated, while the characteristics of the outer acreage were less well-defined and
more natural in appearance. Certain landscape features, such as the buildings,
topography and vegetation, created spaces that evoked many different physical and
visual associations within the two separate areas.

Since there is little documentation for the first historic period, it is impossible
to delineate the exact spatial organization of either the outer acreage or the central
core. It may be assumed that the spatial organization of the outer acreage was less
formal than the spatial organization of the central core, and that it may have included
some outbuildings as well as pasture and/or cultivated land. The central core was
divided into two major spaces, the west field space and the east field space.

West Field Space: The spatial configuration of the west field space was probably
established in c.1764. It encompassed the area in the central core located to the west
of the original entrance road. It was defined to the north by the change in elevation
between the central core and the alluvial river plain; to the south by the main route
from Albany to Oswego; to the east by the original entrance road; and to the west by
the heavily wooded sloped area on top of the ridge just east of the ravine. The
rectangular space was approximately 2400 feet long (NW/SE) by 500 feet wide
(NE/SW). No information was found during research concerning the ground plane,
but it probably had a gentle upward slope to the south, and a somewhat steep
downward slope at the northeastern corner; ground materials are not known. The space
was probably generally open to the sky.
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MANSION SUBSPACE: The spatial configuration of the mansion subspace was
probably established in c.1764; the exact date is unknown. The space around the
mansion was a subspace within the larger west field space. It was located in the
northern portion of the west field space. The mansion subspace was defined to the
north by the change in elevation between the central core and the alluvial river plain,
to the south by the service courtyard, to the east by the original entrance road, and to
the west by a steep slope. The rectangular space might have been approximately 180
feet long (NE/SW) by 150 feet wide (NW/SE). The ground plane materials are not
known, but there was probably a moderate upward slope to the south that became
steeper near the southern boundary of the mansion subspace. The space was probably
open to the sky.

Formal Garden — The spatial configuration of the formal garden, if it existed,
was probably established in ¢.1764; the exact date is unknown. It might have been
located northeast of the mansion. If so, it was an internal space within the larger
mansion subspace.® The formal garden space might have been as large as 240 feet
long (NE/SW) by 210 feet wide (NW/SE), with a center circle diameter of
approximately 60 feet and walkways approximately 25 feet wide. The garden might
have consisted of four outer quadrants and an inner circle, with paths between each
quadrant and a circular path between the quadrants and inner circle. The north/south
central paths might have been aligned with the center of the mansion; if so, the
east/west central paths might have been perpendicular to the north-south paths, with an
inner circle that bisected the axis (see figure 2.5). No information was found during
research concerning the ground plane, but it most probably was flat or had a slight
downward slope to the northeast. Ground materials are unknown. The space was
probably generally open to the sky.

SERVICE _COURTYARD SUBSPACE: The service courtyard subspace spatial
configuration was probably established in ¢.1764; the exact date is unknown. The
service courtyard was a subspace within the larger west field space. It was defined to
the north by the mansion, to the southeast by the outbuilding, and to the southwest by
the root cellar. The service courtyard was generally triangular in shape; it was
probably approximately 30 feet on each side. The ground plane and its materials are
unknown. The space was probably generally open to the sky.

East Field Space: The spatial configuration of the east field space was probably
established in ¢.1764, the exact date is unknown. It consisted of the central core area
east of the original entrance road. The east field space was defined to the north by the
change in elevation between the central core and the alluvial river plain; to the south
and east by the slope of the ridge; and to the west by the original entrance road. The
triangular space was probably approximately 800 feet long (NW/SE) by 200 feet wide
(NE/SW) at the southern end and 600 feet wide (NE/SW) at the northern end. There
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was probably a graduai upward slope to the southeast. No documentation was found
concerning ground materials during research for this report. The space was probably
generally open to the sky.

BURIAL GROUND SUBSPACE: The burial ground subspace was probably established
in c.1752. It was approximately 120 feet southeast of the mansion. The burial ground
was a subspace within the larger east field space. No documentation was found
conceming shape, size, or materials during research for this report. Some type of
enclosure might have been present to prevent animals from intruding, and this
enclosure might have provided defining edges for the space; however, no
documentation was found to determine size, shape, material or color of any enclosure.
The burial ground might have been used as early as 1752, but no information was
found regarding burials during the early part of the ownership period. The space was
probably generally open to the sky.

Views and Vistas

Some important features of spatial organization in an historic landscape are
views and vistas. Since little information was available to document actual spatial
organization at the property, it is difficult to determine what views and vistas existed
during the first historic period. Certain views were probably present, based on an
historic map comparison of topography both on and off the site, particularly with
regard to views from the mansion. However, no documentation was found concerning
views or vistas from the mansion in the first ownership period during research for this
report.

Views Northeast from the Mansion — The views northeast from the mansion
probably included the ‘slea routh’, the alluvial river plain, and the Mohawk River.
The road and vegetation growing on the plain were probably visible in the foreground,
while trees lining the southern bank of the Mohawk River were visible in the distance.
In the far distance, the northern bank of the river and the hills beyond could probably
be seen, although any trees that were present might have filtered the view.

Views Northwest from the Mansion — The views northwest from the mansion
probably included the “slea routh”, the alluvial river plain, the Mohawk River, and
possibly the island, located northwest of the mansion. The road, as well as vegetation
growing on the plain were likely visible in the foreground; trees growing along the
southern bank of the Mohawk River were probably visible just beyond. The river
itself and the hills above its northern bank could probably be seen in the distance.
Trees along both sides of the riverbank might have filtered the view.

41



Chapter I: Nicholas Herkimer Ownership Period 1752-1777

Views Southeast from the Mansion — The views southeast from the mansion
probably included the outbuilding in the foreground. The outbuilding might have
blocked other views to the southeast, depending on where it was actually located. It
might have been possible to see a portion, if not all, of the burial ground, and the steep
slope beyond it in the far distance.

Views Southwest from the Mansion — The views southwest from the mansion
probably included the root cellar and the steep slope just behind it in the foreground.
The slope probably blocked any long distance views in that direction.

View from the Mohawk River to the Mansion — It was possible to view the
mansion from the river, but the exact locations are unknown.” The view might have
been somewhat screened by trees growing along the river or near the mansion, but no
documentation was found during research for this report to confirm this assumption.

Furnishings & Objects

No furnishings or objects can be documented for the first historic period. It is
assumed that some fencing existed around the agricultural fields, and possibly gates
were erected where the “slea routh™ crossed the property, in accordance with local
custom. It is also assumed that some burial markers existed in the burial ground
during the first ownership period. However, the exact dates of installation, locations,
shapes, sizes and materials of any burial markers were not documented during
research for this report.

Summary

Nicholas Herkimer and the Herkimer family played a major role in the
development of the Mohawk Valley, particularly in the vicinity of present day Little
Falls and Herkimer, New York. Nicholas settled previously unoccupied land and
cultivated it in conformity with British law. He also helped his father and brothers
with assorted family businesses, including transporting and trading goods. Herkimer
made friends among the Palatine settlers as well as in the Native American
communities, and was generally well respected.

Nicholas Herkimer’s attention to civil matters became more focused as local
political differences escalated into the Revolutionary War. His commitment to the
patriot’s cause reached a peak during the Battle of Oriskany. In spite of personal
wounds, he continued to guide his voluntary troops through one of the worst conflicts
of the war, and died quietly several days later. Little is known about his specific
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influence on the design and implementation of landscape usage at Herkimer Home,
although it is assumed that he approved the construction of the mansion itself. The
imposing brick home Herkimer built along the Mohawk River proved to be a lasting
legacy to his wealth and status in the area. It also provided a generous inheritance for
his widow, Maria, and for his brother, George Herkimer.
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II. GEORGE HERKIMER & HEIRS
OWNERSHIP PERIOD (1777-1814)

The second ownership period of Herkimer Home State Historic Site began in
1777 after the death of General Nicholas Herkimer. George Herkimer inherited the
major portion of the mansion and estate of his deceased brother, Nicholas. This period
spanned the ownership of George Herkimer, and the simultaneous partial ownership
(approximately one year in length) of Maria Dygert Herkimer, the widow of General
Herkimer. Because George Herkimer died intestate in 1788, it also included the ten-
year span of time when Alida Herkimer, widow of George, had stewardship
responsibilities. The ownership period ended in 1814, when John and Polly Herkimer,
son and daughter-in-law of George and Alida Herkimer, sold the property to John Van
Orden and his wife, Polly.

George Herkimer and Maria Dygert Herkimer Ownership Period

George Herkimer (1744-1788) was the youngest of Johan Jost and Anna
Herkimer’s five sons, and the eleventh child of thirteen total offspring. Although little
is known about George Herkimer’s childhood, it is assumed that he lived with his
parents and siblings at Fort Herkimer. He probably assisted, in some capacity, with
the management of the many business interests of his father and brothers.

George Herkimer was thought to be somewhat brash and hot-tempered; he was
sued by Elizabeth Magin when he left her to marry Alida Schuyler (1752-1829), a
member of the wealthy and influential Schuyler family.! Alida was the half-sister of
George’s brother-in-law, Peter David Schuyler (husband of Elizabeth Herkimer).
George married Alida Schuyler on 15 November 1768, and together they had nine
children: the three sons were John (1773-1845), Joseph (1776-1824), and John
Nicholas (1787-c1790); the six daughters were Margaretha (1777-c1781), Catherine,
or Caty (1779-1813), Margretha, or Peggy (1781-1843), Helen, or Lana (1782-1859),
Alida (1784-1833) and Gartrude (1788-1851).

George’s involvement with the military and the revolution was varied, but
relatively brief. During the latter part of the French and Indian War (1754-1763),
George was a ranger and fought for the Schenectady Battalion of the New York
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Militia. He was a member of the Tryon County Committee of Safety, along with his
brothers, Nicholas and Hendrick, and brothers-in-law, Wemer Dygert (husband of
Magdalena Herkimer) and Peter Bellinger (husband of Delia Herkimer), but resigned
on 24 May 1775. George became a captain of the Tryon County Militia in 1775.
However, a dispute with one of his men resulted in his discharge from service on 24
November 1775, and signaled the end of his activities with the revolutionaries.
Although George’s name appears on the monument at the Oriskany Battlefield, there
is some doubt about his participation. His problems with the military and the
revolutionaries appear to have followed him into civilian life; according to an undated
letter, George Herkimer was not considered a loyal and fit person for civil office in the
new Patriot government that was in the process of being established.?

When Johan Jost Herkimer died in August of 1775, he willed Lot #36 of the
Burnetsfield Patent to George.> From the time of his father’s death until the time of
Nicholas Herkimer’s death, George and his family lived at the Burnetsfield Patent lot,
also known as Fort Herkimer. When Nicholas Herkimer died in 1777, the main
portions of his estate and mansion went to his youngest brother, George Herkimer.
Nicholas had also provided partial use of the mansion and use of certain areas of the
estate to his widow, Maria. For approximately a year after the death of Nicholas
Herkimer both families shared the residence.  The mansion was also used
intermittertly for military purposes during the remainder of the Revolutionary War.
Since his loyalty to the patriot cause was in question, George was placed under house
arrest several times. On 10 March 1778 he was even sentenced to jail; anyone who
was not actively participating in the struggle for freedom from England was regarded
as being sympathetic to the Loyalists.*

Along with the mansion, land, and support structures, George had inherited
livestock, agricultural implements and slaves. He farmed the rich alluvial plain area
along the Mohawk River, and possibly other nearby areas. An incident occurred in
1781 at the Herkimer home during which a Loyalist raiding party was discovered in
the woods near the house. Allegedly, Alida Herkimer went out on the piazza along the
north side of the house and blew a tin horn to get George’s attention. Several slaves
were helping George hoe corn on the flatlands by the river and all were unaware of the
danger. Colonel Marinus Willett happened to be staying at the house with a
contingent of patriot soldiers. He pulled Mrs. Herkimer to safety inside the house,
thereby defending her from gunfire, and deployed his men for defensive purposes.
The attackers were driven away, and the inhabitants eventually went back to their
activities.’

The ravages of the American Revolution took a heavy toll on the Mohawk

Valley settlements. Continual burning and pillaging, garrisoning of troops and the
absence of profitable trade had devastated the once prosperous farms and small
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businesses in the area. Many of the settlers had been wounded, killed or taken
prisoner by the enemy. The Palatines had left Germany because of the terrible effects
of war, and their descendents had once again been subjected to its awful forces.

By the end of the war in 1783, George Herkimer, along with many of his
neighbors, had experienced an economic downturn. He had often housed soldiers, as
well as more unfortunate individuals whose own residences had been destroyed, and
still had to provide sustenance for his own large family. George, however, fared better
than most. He still had shelter and arable land, as well as slaves to help him farm,
even though he had apparently overextended his credit. In November of 1785,
Hendrick Frey sent a letter to his brother-in-law George Herkimer in an effort to
reduce the debts owed him by George.® The family was clearly in difficult financial
circumstances.

George Herkimer died intestate on 24 May 1788.7 Because of various legal
problems, George’s estate was not discharged for ten years. His wife and children
tried to settle the matter several times, and finally had to appeal to the New York State
Legislature for a resolution. A State Legislative Act, to select a committee for
surveying the property and dividing it into specific lots, was successfully petitioned by
George Herkimer’s children and passed on 16 March 1795. Cornelius C. Beekman,
Jacob Merkel and John G. Moyer were appointed commissioners for partitioning
George Herkimer’s land.® When the survey was completed, a lottery drawing was
subsequently held to determine who would receive each specific parcel of property.

The apportionment was accomplished in four allotments. Each allotment
included seven lots that were divided among the seven surviving children of George
and Alida Herkimer. Each sibling received four lots, one in each of the four
allotments. The lot surrounding the mansion, called the Expense Lot, and a small
island in the Mohawk River just northwest of the mansion, were not included in the
lottery process. John Herkimer, George and Alida Herkimer’s oldest son, received the
Expense Lot and the island. Together with the Expense Lot, a total of twenty-nine lots
were carved from the original estate (see figure 2.1, Appendix C: George Herkimer
Estate Allotment Chart). The seven parcels in the first, as well as the second, third and
fourth allotments, were identified by number, Lot #1 through Lot #7. If known, exact
acreage for each lot is given in both the text and maps.

Parcels in the fourth allotment were not contiguous with the first, second and
third allotment parcels, and did not ultimately become part of the present historic site.
Therefore, after the original distribution in 1798, ownership of the fourth allotment
parcels was not documented for this report.
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Figure 2.1: Map of the Estate of George Herkimer, 1798. NYS Secretary of
State, Field Book 24, Section E, p. 207. NYS Archives.
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First Allotment

The first allotment comprised the northernmost portion of the estate along the
river (see figure 2.2). It included 117 acres, three roods and “...nineteen perches of
low land...”’ There were two other separate parcels: one included the land
surrounding the mansion, approximately 36 acres, and was known as the Expense Lot;
the other parcel was a two-acre island in the Mohawk River just northwest of the
mansion.

The northern boundary for the first allotment was the Mohawk River, and the
southern boundary was the “slea routh”, or the road to the carrying place at the little
falls. Lot #1 was on the northeast corner of the allotment, Lot #2 just to the west with
a common boundary, Lot #3 to the west of Lot #2 with a common boundary, and so on
until Lot #7, which was located on the northwest corner of the allotment. The
Expense Lot contained the mansion and outbuildings. Located just south of Lot #1
and Lot #2, the Expense Lot had no direct access to the river. The “slea routh™ formed
the northern boundary and a section of the original entrance road bisected the southern
portion of the lot.

The seven numbered lots were divided among George and Alida’s seven
children. Lot #1, approximately 17 % acres, was given to Caty (Catherine) Herkimer.'°
Lot #2 contained approximately 16 acres, and was given to Lana (Helen) Herkimer."!
Lot #3, 16 2 acres, was given to Pe%gy (Margretha) Herkimer; "2 Margretha later
married John McCombs (c1777-1846). ° George and Alida Herkimer’s daughter, also
named Alida Herkimer, received Lot #4;14 she later married Peter Brooks Jr. (1780-
1865)."> Joseph Herkimer received Lot #S5 of the first allotment.'® Joseph married
Eunice Trowbridge (c1782-1826) in 1800."  Gartrude Herkimer received Lot #6;'®
her future husband was Jacob Eacker (c1785-1873)."" Lot #7, given to John
Herkimer,m contained 16 acres. John Herkimer also received the Expense Lot and the
island.?! John’s first wife was Polly Brown (c1776-c1820).%

Second Allotment

The second allotment contained a total of 705 acres and a portion of the
original entrance road between the main highway and the Expense Lot (see figure
2.1).2 A narrow ravine with a stream bisected Lot #3 of this allotment from northwest
to southeast; the ravine was located to the west of the Expense Lot (see figure 2.3).
Lot # 1 of the second allotment was given to Caty (Catherine) Herkimer, Lot #2 was
given to John Herkimer, and Lot #3 was given to Lana (Helen) Herkimer. Alida
Herkimer received Lot #4, and Peggy (Margretha) Herkimer received Lot #5, which
containid 45 acres. Gartrude Herkimer received Lot #6, and Joseph Herkimer received
Lot #7.
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Figure 2.2: First allotment land apportionment (shaded) of George Herkimer’s
estate, 1798. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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Figure 2.3: Second allotment land apportionment (shaded) of George
Herkimer’s estate, 1798. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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A 300+ acre rectangular parcel of land owned by Peter S. Dygert (Nicholas
Herkimer’s brother-in-law by his first wife and father-in-law by his second wife) was
located between the lots apportioned for the second and third allotment (see figure 2.1,
2.2, 2.3 and 2.4). This land was believed to have initially been granted to Nicholas
Herkimer by his father Johan Jost Herkimer, but at some point it passed into Hendrick
Herkimer’s possession (Nicholas Herkimer’s brother). No documentation was found
during research for this report to verify the transition, but a deed dated 24 March 1772
documents the sale of the property, containing approx1mately 300 acres, from
Hendrick Herkimer to Peter S. Tygert (Dygert) A portion of this property,
consisting of 90 acres, was subsequently left to David Moyer and Nancy Dygert
Moyer, daughter and son-in-law of Peter Dygert.?

Third Allotment

The third allotment contained the largest amount of land, approximately 1400
acres. It comprised the southernmost section of the estate, and was composed of seven
lots that varied greatly in size (see figure 2.4). The majority of the northern boundary
of the third allotment was contiguous with the southern boundary of the parcel owned
by Peter Dygert. John Herkimer received Lot #1 of the third allotment, Caty
(Catherine) Herkimer received Lot #2, and Joseph Herkimer received Lot #3. 27 Peggy
(Margaretha) Herkimer received Lot #4, Alida Herkimer received Lot #5, Gartrude
Herkimer received Lot #6 and Lana (Helen) Herkimer received Lot #7 % of the third
allotment of George Herkimer’s estate.”

Fourth Allotment

The fourth allotment, a rectangular parcel of land that contained approximately
100 acres, was divided into seven equal rectangular lots (see figure 2.1). Each lot was
probably approximately 14 acres in area. John Herkimer received Lot #1, Peggy
(Margretha) Herkimer received Lot #2, Caty (Catherine) Herkimer received Lot #3
and Gartrude Herkimer received Lot #4. Alida Herkimer received Lot #5, Joseph
Herkimer received Lot #6 and Lana Herkimer received Lot # 7.)° The fourth
allotment was not contiguous with the other three allotments and did not subsequently
become part of the historic site. !
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Figure 2.4: Third allotment land apportionment (shaded) of George
Herkimer’s estate, 1798. (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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Due to the ravages of the Revolutionary War, little documentation exists to
show what changes, if any, were made to the landscape during George and Alida
Herkimer’s tenure. It may be assumed some activities took place that involved
agricultural use of the alluvial river plains, and possibly other areas of the estate were
used for similar purposes. Also, the intermittent presence of the colonial troops as
well as the influence of seven children undoubtedly had some effect on the environs.

John Herkimer and Siblings Ownership Period (1798-1814)

After George Herkimer’s estate was finally settled in 1798, his widow, Alida,
still maintained residence in the mansion, along with her son Joseph and several young
daughters. George and Alida’s oldest son, John, and his wife Polly, had received the
Expense Lot in the allotment procedure and also lived there. John and Polly were
married on 20 January 1793, and had four daughters, Amanda (1791-?), Elizabeth
(1793-1862), Charlotte (1796-1870), and Melinda (1799-1872).*% They resided in the
brick mansion until 1814. A Circuit Court Judge for many years, John Herkimer was
also elected in 1800, 1804, and 1806 to the New York State Assembly. He was
involved in the constitutional convention of 1801, held the rank of Major during the
War of 1812, and was a battalion leader for the New York State Militia at Sackets
Harbor in 1813. Additionally, John served as a United States Congressman between
1823 and 1825.%

It is not known if John had any influence on the design of a garden located just
north of the mansion (see figure 2.5), or if any changes occurred to the mansion or
outbuildings during this time. Alida Herkimer, George’s widow, had listed several
slaves in the inventory of her husband’s estate, and it may be assumed that they
continued to help her with a certain amount of farming after George died.>* It is also
possible that for several years Alida was the proprietress of a tavern located within the
mansion. The enterprise might have helped to support her family, and during that
time, such places of business were commonly located within a residence.

Several property transfers occurred during this ownership period. Joseph
Herkimer sold Lot #3 of the third allotment (174 acres) to Benjamin Burr on 31
January 1799 for $1450. On 18 November 1800, Peggy (Margretha Herkimer)
McCombs and John McCombs sold Lot #3 of the first allotment to John and Polly
Herkimer for $47S. Peggy (Margretha Herkimer) McCombs also sold Lot #5 of the
second allotment (45 acres) to Cornelius and Betsey Smith at some undetermined
time, and the Smiths subsequently sold the property to Alida Herkimer for $2000 on 4
March 1808. Gertrude (Herkimer) Eacker and Jacob Eacker sold part of Lot #6 of the
third allotment (68 acres) to Jacob W. Fox on 5 March 1809 for $750. *°
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On 7 February 1812 Felix Green (husband of Helen Herkimer) sold part of Lot
#2 (90 acres) of the third allotment to Ased and Sylvia Reed for $2175. Alida
Herkimer sold Lot #4 of the first allotment to Peter Brooks, Jr. (her husband) on 16
June 1812 for a sum of $100, and also sold Lot #4 (withholding ten acres) of the
second allotment to Peter Brooks, Jr. on 16 June 1812 for $100.%
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Figure 2.5: Detail from Erie Canal Survey map, 1803. (Erie Canal Museum,
Archives, Syracuse, NY).
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On 4 June 1814 Gertrude (Herkimer) Eacker and her husband Jacob sold Lot
#5 and Lot #6 of the first allotment (approximately 33 acres) to John Herkimer (no
information was found during research for this report to document how and/or when
Gertrude acquired Lot #5). Gertrude and Jacob Eacker also sold part of Lot #6 (52
acres known as the Stone Ridge, see figure 3.5) of the second allotment to John
Herkimer on 4 June 1814 for a total of $1600 (see Appendix D: Subsequent Sales of
George Herkimer’s Estate Lots). >’

On 2 May 1814 John and Polly Herkimer sold some property to John Van
Orden and his wife Caty for $2000. The land sold included: Lot #1 of the first
allotment, 17 % acres; Lot #2 of the first allotment, 16 acres; and Lot #3 of the fir:
allotment, 16 'z acres. John and Polly also sold part of Lot #2 of the second allotment
(134 acres), and the Expense Lot, which was comprised of the main homestead area
and the small island in the Mohawk River (38 acres), to John Van Orden on 2 May
1814 for $4500. The total acreage of property purchased by the Van Ordens was
approximately 222 acres.’® No specific reason was given for the sale, but it has been
postulated that the construction of the Erie Canal channel within several yards of the
house might have been the deciding factor.

Environment

Social/Cultural — The destruction of the Revolutionary War had decimated the
populations of the Mohawk Valley and the Little Falls area. Large numbers of homes,
forts and businesses had succumbed to fires and had to be rebuilt. Valuable
irreplaceable records had been lost, and many formerly successful and wealthy
families were left in dire financial circumstances. Fortunately, several companies
became interested in improving travel along the waterways to enhance the renewed
interest in trade and commerce possibilities. The Western Inland Lock Navigation
Company built a canal at Little Falls in 1796 to bypass the falls, and also built a canal
near Rome in c¢.1796 across the ‘carrying place’ to Wood Creek. The canals
facilitated transportation of people and goods between the eastern and western
settlements within the state and helped make the Mohawk River into an even more
significant water route. While these projects provided employment for the nearby
towns and villages, their completion rendered the Herkimer’s monopoly on the
overland transport business essentially useless.

Little Falls began to change from a small frontier village to a bustling canal
town that boasted several prosperous mills. Power for running the mills was generated
by the falls. As the threat of attack by hostile groups diminished, travel through the
Mohawk Valley increased, and pioneers again pushed westward in search of cheap,
fertile land. In the old country, German families had traditionally divided large tracts
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of land among children and grandchildren, thus ensuring that: property stayed in the
family; more parcels were developed; family members were relatively close to one
another; and communities were able to grow. The descendents of the Palatine
Germans who settled the Mohawk Valley continued their forefather’s traditions, and
agricultural pursuits remained an important source of income and way of life for
residents of the area.

Tryon County, which had been established in 1772, was divided in 1780, and
the land George Herkimer owned near the Mohawk River became part of Montgomery
County. In 1792 Herkimer County was set off from Montgomery County, but the
Herkimer property was still in Montgomery County, and continued to be a part of it
until after 1816.

Shortly after the turn of the century, increasing hostilities between Britain and
France eventually led to the War of 1812. Once again able-bodied men from the
Mohawk Valley had to leave their homes and march off to battle. At least this time
the war was not being fought on their personal landholdings, and did not directly
involve their families in combat. When the men returned to their homes, the seasonal
agricultural rhythms were re-established, and life went on much as it had before the
war. The rich fields and river plains produced an abundance of crops, and a new way
to transport them to waiting customers was clearly needed.

Following in the footsteps of his uncle, George Clinton (1739-1812),* De Witt
Clinton (1769-1818) had entered politics, and served as a member of the New York
State legislature from 1797-1802. In 1803 he resigned from the U.S. Senate to
become mayor of New York City. Clinton became a strong advocate for the building
of the Erie Canal; the waterway was expected to span the state and to provide a
commercial connection with the Upper Ohio Valley. He recognized the importance of
the route delineated by the Mohawk River, and eventually forced its construction. On
4 July 1817 work was started on the canal at Rome, NY. By 1819 the canal was
finished from Rome to Utica, and by 1821 barges could travel from the Genesee
River, near Rochester, to the bottom of the locks at Little Falls. At some time after
1821, the section of canal that passed through the Herkimer property was constructed.
'I'he Erie Canal was completed, with great fanfare, on 26 October 18254

Landscape Context

The boundaries of the site changed greatly during this period. When George
Herkimer inherited the estate from his brother, Nicholas, in 1777, the total contiguous
property was approximately 500 acres in area (see figure 2.6). The first allotment
(117 acres), second allotment (705 acres), the Expense Lot and island (38 acres), and
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the third allotment (1400 acres) of George Herkimer’s estate, totaled approximately
2260 acres.

It is not clear how and/or when George Herkimer acquired the additional land
that his children inherited. Johan Jost Herkimer, a brother of George, lost claim to his
land in the Mohawk Valley under the Act of 22 October 1779, which confiscated
estates belonging to those who were convicted of siding with the British. Some of his
losses included over 800 acres in the Fall Hill area, and possibly he owned some of the
land subsequently included in George’s estate. Hendrick Herkimer, George’s older
brother, was a large landholder in the Mohawk Valley. He died in 1779, and possibly

bequeathed some real estate to his younger brother.
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Figure 2.6: Map of property bequeathed to George Herkimer by Nicholas
Herkimer, 1777 (shaded). (Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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At the time of the dispersal of George Herkimer’s estate, several structures
were apparently extant on the property (see figure 2.1). It is assumed that some of the
drawings and symbols used on the George Herkimer Estate Map, based on their size
and complexity, represent houses and outbuildings.

Topography
OVERALL SITE:

Few changes to the topography can be documented during the George
Herkimer and Heirs ownership period. There were probably certain minor changes
made, particularly in the area immediately surrounding the mansion, due to the
presence of army troops, children, and customers for the tavern managed by Alida
Herkimer. The large formal garden located just north of the main house most likely
required some manipulation of the topography.

OUTER ACREAGE:

The topography probably changed somewhat after the completion of the
allotment procedure. The changes most likely occurred in the grading for new
entrance roads to gain access to lots. It is also possible that new structures were
erected to accommodate the new owners’ requirements. No documentation was found
concerning specific ground plane manipulation or building construction during
research for this report.

CENTRAL CORE:

The topography in the area just north of the mansion changed when the garden
was installed. Although no topography map was found during the research for this
report, an Erie Canal survey map from 1803 documents the presence of the garden. It
is believed that some grading had to occur to implement the formal design of the
garden, especially if the scale of the garden in relation to the mansion is correct.

Buildings and Structures

OVERALL SITE:

At the close of the first ownership period, there were three documented
buildings. This remained the same throughout the second ownership period. The
extant buildings were the mansion, the root cellar, and an outbuilding. It is possible
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that a gristmill, mentioned in Nicholas Herkimer’s will, might have survived through
at least part of the George Herkimer & Heirs ownership period.

OUTER ACREAGE:

Gristmill — The gristmill was not referenced after the date of Nicholas
Herkimer’s will. It is not known if the mill was present throughout the entire second
ownership period.

CENTRAL CORE:

West Field Space:

MANSION SUBSPACE:

Mansion — The mansion existed at the beginning of the second ownership
period. A piazza, or porch, was documented on the north side of the house during this
period, and it is believed that the house functioned for a time as a tavern, while the
widow Alida Herkimer struggled to support her family. No other changes were
documented for this ownership period during research for this report.

Root Cellar — The root cellar was extant during this ownership period. No
changes were documented during research for this report.

Outbuilding — One outbuilding was documented on the allotment map for
George Herkimer’s estate. In the estate inventory compiled in 1788, several slaves
were listed, thereby providing evidence that a slave quarters of some type probably
existed during this period.*' Also, various domestic farm animals were listed in the
inventory, making the presence of a barn obligatory. Therefore, the building on the
map was probably either a slave dwelling or a barn.

Vegetation
OVERALL SITE:

Little information is available to document vegetation during this period. No
further information was found during research to explain the continuation of any
orchards or other agricultural fields from the first ownership period. It may be
assumed that certain areas were used as pasture for the farm animals, but it is not
known exactly where these areas were located.
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After George Herkimer’s death, some farm activities may have taken place.
However, a letter written in 1789 by Alida Herkimer to a merchant in Albany
requested corn, since there was a scarcity of grain in the Mohawk Valley.* This
suggests that even if some grain was being grown on the property, it was not sufficient
to provide for both people and animals.

OUTER ACREAGE:

When George Herkimer was alive, the alluvial river plain north of the mansion
was used for growing corn, and possibly other crops. No documentation conceming
vegetation in the other outer farm fields or woodland areas was found during research
for this report. It is likely that during George Herkimer’s lifetime some clearing of
woodlands was accomplished in order to supply fuel for cooking and heating, and
perhaps to prepare new fields for crops or pasture. The same is probably true for the
period following George’s death when his widow, Alida, and his children, occupied
the house.

CENTRAL CORE:
West Field Space:

MANSION SUBSPACE:

Formal Garden — If the formal garden actually existed, it was extant in 1803
when the Erie Canal Survey of the area was completed in preparation for construction
of the canal (see figure 2.5). It is likely that vegetables and herbs were grown in the
formal garden, and possibly some flowers. However, no information was found
during research for this report to document any plant material used in the garden.

No other documentation was found for vegetation in the central core during
research for this report.

Circulation

Any roads that existed during the first ownership period were probably extant
during the second ownership period as well. Although no documentation was found
during research for this report, there is reason to believe that a road existed through the
alluvial river plain agricultural fields, between the mansion and the Mohawk River.
This would have been particularly important during the period when a tavern was
situated within the mansion, or when troops who were traveling by boat stayed
overnight or longer. No information was found during research for this report to
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document the exact location, size or base plane material of any roads present during
this ownership period.

CENTRAL CORE:

“Slea Routh” — The “slea routh” might have been used during the second
ownership period, but no information was found to document any changes in its
defining characteristics.

Original Entrance Road — The original entrance road was probably unchanged
during the second ownership period in terms of its defining characteristics (see figure
2.1).

Garden Paths — The garden paths were probably not altered during the second
ownership period. No information was found during research for this report to
document any changes in the defining characteristics of the garden paths.

It is not known if any changes occurred to the secondary roads or paths that
connected the various outbuildings to the mansion and to each other. No information
was found during research for this report to document any alterations to these roads
and paths during the second ownership period.

Spatial Organization/Relationships

OVERALL SITE:

Because the total acreage of the property increased greatly during the second
ownership period, the spatial organization of the property changed significantly,
particularly in the outer acreage.

QUTER ACREAGE:

Some sense of spatial relationships for the outer areas of the estate is possible,
based on the map of allotments for dispersal of George Herkimer’s estate. Existing
buildings/structures are seen to be rather far apart from each other, with the exception
of the four buildings/structures located along the southeastern boundary of Lot #4 of
the third allotment. These buildings/structures are grouped to form a more enclosed
spatial configuration in this area (see figure 2.1). No scale has been documented for
the rectangular shaped space, but it was defined by the buildings/structures in all
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directions. The ground materials of the space are unknown, and it is not known if the
area was open to the sky.

CENTRAL CORE:

West Field Space: The spatial configuration of the west field space was probably
relatively unchanged during the second ownership period. No documentation
concerning alterations in defining characteristics was found during research for this
report.

MANSION SUBSPACE: The spatial configuration of the mansion subspace was
probably unchanged in terms of its defining characteristics. No documentation was
found concerning any changes.

Formal Garden — If the formal garden actually existed, it was probably
unchanged in terms of its defining characteristics. No information was found to
document any alterations that might have been made during the second ownership
period.

SERVICE COURTYARD SUBSPACE: — The service courtyard subspace was probably
unchanged in terms of its shape, size, defining edges and ground materials. No
documentation concerning alterations was found during research for this report.

East Field Space: The spatial configuration of the east field space probably did
not have any alterations in its defining characteristics during the second ownership
period. No information was found concerning changes in location, shape, size or
defining edges.

BURIAL GROUND SUBSPACE: — The spatial configuration of the burial ground
subspace might have changed during the second ownership period due to burials that
took place between 1777 and 1814. It is possible that the death and subsequent burial
of George Herkimer and others altered the shape and/or size of the burial ground. No
changes were documented for ground materials.

Views and Vistas
CENTRAL CORE:

Views Northeast from the Mansion — The views northeast from the mansion
probably encompassed the alluvial river plain, the Mohawk River and the hills
beyond. No information was found during research to document how vegetation
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might have framed or restricted the panorama. No information was found during
research for this report to determine what landmarks were visible.

Views Northwest from the Mansion — The views northwest from the mansion
probably included the alluvial river plain as well as the Mohawk River and hills in the
distance. No information was found during research to document how vegetation
might have framed or restricted the panorama. No information was found during
research for this report to determine what landmarks were visible.

Views Southeast from the Mansion — The views southeast from the mansion
might have been partially blocked by the presence of an outbuilding. Because the
exact location of the outbuilding has not been determined, it is not known whether the
outbuilding served to actually block the view or whether it was simply an object in
that view. No information was found during research to document how vegetation
might have framed or restricted the panorama. No information was found during
research for this report to determine what landmarks were visible.

Views Southwest from the Mansion — The views southwest from the mansion
were probably foreshortened somewhat by the presence of the root cellar. Beyond the
root cellar, the moderate rise in slope probably prevented any long distance views.
Although no information was found during research to document how vegetation
might have framed or restricted the view, it is likely that the view consisted of
agricultural fields and/or woodlands.

View from the Mohawk River to the Mansion — It was probably possible to
view the mansion from the river at some point. The view might have been somewhat
screened by trees growing along the river or near the mansion, but no documentation
was found during research for this report to confirm this assumption.

Furnishings and Objects

OUTER ACREAGE:

Although no furnishings can be documented for the second historic period, it is
assumed that some fencing existed around agricultural fields. Gates may have been
present where wagon routes crossed the property. No information was found during
research concerning size, placement or materials of fencing or gates.

CENTRAL CORE:

Fences and gates probably existed, throughout the ownership period, around
the perimeters of agricultural fields, and fencing might also have been present
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around the burial ground area as well. No information was found to document the
exact location, size, or materials of fencing or gates.

West Field Space:

MANSION SUBSPACE:

Bench — The bench was extant in 1781. It was located on the piazza on the
northeast side of the mansion. * Exact location, shape, size and materials of the bench
are not known.

Summary

From 1777 until his death in 1788, George Herkimer greatly increased the size
of the estate he inherited from his older brother Nicholas, but exactly how and when
he accomplished this is unknown. He farmed the rich alluvial river plain, like his
brother before him, and may have added other agricultural fields to those in use when
he arrived. George overcame both the stigma of being a British sympathizer during
the Revolution, and some of the economic reversal he suffered as a result of the war,
thus allowing his children a rich land inheritance.

After George Herkimer died intestate, his widow, Alida, and/or his son, John,
and his wife, Polly, were probably responsible for any changes in the landscape of the
Expense Lot, such as the formal garden. The lottery process split the estate among
George and Alida’s children, and changed the boundaries significantly.
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III. JOHN VAN ORDEN, ET AL.
OWNERSHIP PERIOD (1814-1913)

Overview

The third historic period of Herkimer Home State Historic Site began on 2
May 1814 when John Van Orden and his wife Caty bought several parcels of land
from John and Polly Herkimer. This land included the Expense Lot and island, Lots
#1, #2 and #3 of the first allotment, and part (134 acres) of Lot #2 of the second
allotment of George Herkimer’s estate.! The Van Orden’s purchased approximately
222 acres from the Herkimers (see figure 3.1). In that same year, John Van Orden also
bought another 12 acres from Peter Domenick; this land was a portion of Lot #3 of the
second allotment, and adjoined the Expense Lot (see figure 3.1).2

There were major changes to the property during the John Van Orden et al.
ownership period, mainly due to the construction of the Erie Canal. The location of
the canal essentially followed the layout of the road, or “slea routh”, that had led to the
Little Falls, and formed the southern border for Lots # 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the first
allotment of George Herkimer’s estate (see figure 2.2). Construction of the canal
altered the landscape just north of the mansion in terms of view, spatial organization,
use and character, and caused significant changes to the property along the entire
length of the canal.

Since the canal was closer to the mansion than the Mohawk River, the new
waterway allowed easier access to the residence, and any potential business
established in it, for those traveling on the canal. It is possible that Alida Herkimer
managed a tavern in the house after her husband George died in 1788; it was a
somewhat common practice, during the eighteenth century, to have a commercial
business located within a residence.® Perhaps Van Orden bought the property with
that fact in mind. No information has been found regarding any specific changes John
Van Orden might have personally made to the property. He did, however, allow at
least one charity show to be performed at the mansion (see figure 3.2).

In 1818, a total of 236 acres was mortgaged to Ann Leverse by John Van
Orden, probably to pay off the initial mortgage to John and Polly Herkimer.* A small
discrepancy between the total acreage John Van Orden bought from the Herkimers
and Peter Domenick and the land subsequently mortgaged to Ann Leverse (234 acres
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vs. 236 acres) is possibly due to slight differences in survey techniques. The entire
property was ordered sold at public auction in 1823, and Ann Leverse assumed title to
the full 236 acres in 1825.° Later in that same year, she sold the property to David
Leavitt.®
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Figure 3.1: Land sold to John Van Orden by John Herkimer, 1814 (shaded).
Also, land sold to Van Orden by Peter and Eve Domenick, 1814 (hatched).
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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EXHIBITION

The public are hereby respectfully
informed,

that a number of young Ladies and
Gentlemen, friendly to Public Speaking,
have consented, by the solicitation of
their acquaintance, to exhibit at the home
of Major JOHN VAN ORDEN in
Danube, where a room has been well
fitted up for the occasion, on Monday,
the tenth instant. Exercises to
commence at nine o’clock AM. -
consisting of a variety of well selected

DIALOGUES;

Scenes from a number of modern and
approved

PLAYS;

A Comedy;
And several pieces of Vocal Music. To
conclude in the evening with

A Tragedy & Afterpiece.
Under the present arrangement, the
Admittance will be 12 ¥z Cents — not as a
remuneration to the players, but (after
defraying the expenses,) the surplus to
be applied to charitable purposes, under
the direction of DAN CHAPMAN,
ANDREW A. FINCK, &
AARON VAN ANTWERP,
Committee of Arrangement.

Danube, May 5, 1821
N.R. - No Children under 5 years of age
to be admitted.

Figure 3.2: Newspaper advertisement, S May 1821. Transcription is on the
right. (HHSHS File, Johan Jost Herkimer I').
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It is believed that David Leavitt (1796-1831) continued to operate the property
as a farm during his short tenure. No information has been found to determine what
changes he made, if any, to the landscape or its features (see figure 3.3). When
Leavitt died on 3 September 1831 at the age of thirty-five, he was interred, southwest
of the Herkimer family burial area but within the same burial ground, next to a D. F.
Leavitt, who died 31 August 1831, at the age of 13 years.” D.F. Leavitt is presumed to
have been one of David Leavitt’s offspring. David’s widow was evidently unable to
support herself and her six young children, so the property was sold, once again, at
public auction in 1834.

D. Leavitt i\
. ¢ \ y
. % ;
_ Mansion \Outbuilding i
,
/ Burial Ground — " .
\“\ / \\&. ~,
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\:,‘
“,‘. K John Herkimer
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NTS

Figure 3.3: Map of Leavitt and Herkimer land, 1834. From John G. Waite
and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House, An Historic Structure Report (Albany,
NY: New York State Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 6. (Text added by
Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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Daniel Connor (1798-1860) bought 210 acres of the Leavitt property on 2
September 1834.® A parcel of land containing approximately 52 acres, located east of
the mansion and known as the Stone Ridge (see figure 3.4), was sold to Connor by
John Herkimer and his second wife Sarah Tenley Herkimer (c.1808-1886) on 1 May
1840.° Connor also bought another parcel of approximately 50 acres from John and
Sarah Herkimer that was probably contiguous with other Connor parcels (see figure
3.5),10 By 1846, when he launched a complaint against the Erie Canal enlargement
project for damage to his farm, Daniel Connor owned approximately 275 acres. It is
not known what happened to the other 37 acres he owned.

Daniel Connor was a farmer as well as a tavern keeper and store-owner. His
business establishment may have originally been located in a building (canal building)
on the north side of the canal and later moved to a building (Connor’s store) on the
south side of the canal (see figure 3.3). He was considered a well-to-do farmer and
businessman.!"  Daniel and his wife Matilda (1801-?) were the parents of several
children. In a census taken in 1855 for the Town of Danube, Danie] and Matilda were
listed as living in Montgomery County with five children, Jacob (1827-?), John B.
(1837-1862), Amelia (1841-7), James D. (1843-7), and Martha (1846-2).'> Another
daughter, Elinor (1832-1906) had evidently married Isaac Walrath and moved away
from her parent’s home by 1855." It is believed that the Connor’s also had a son
named Calvin. Calvin Connor, along with his siblings Jacob and Martha Connor,
subsequently sold the property.

During Daniel and Matilda Connor’s ownership, the exterior and interior of the
main house were changed considerably. A bridge was also built over the canal,
probably during this same time period, so access to the alluvial river farm fields could
be maintained, and also for pedestrian access to the towpath. It was during Connor’s
tenure that Benson J. Lossing, an author, artist and engraver, visited the site in 1848.
Lossing made a sketch of the house and surrounding area and engraved the sketch
onto a wood block (see figure 3.6).

According to Lossing, while on his tour through the Mohawk Valley, he

“...rode down to Danube, to visit the residence of General
Herkimer while living...It was a pleasant ride along the tow-path,
between the canal and the river. Herkimer’s residence is about two and
a half miles below Little Falls, near the canal, and in full view of the
traveler upon the rail-road, half a mile distant. It is a substantial brick
edifice, was erected in 1764, and was a splendid mansion for the time
and place. It is now owned by Daniel Connor, a farmer, who was
modernizing it when I was there, by building a long, fashionable piazza
in front, in place of the small old porch, or stoop, seen in the
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picture...Close by the house is a subterranean room, built of heavy
masonry and arched, which the general used as a magazine for stores
belonging to the Tryon county militia. It is still used as a store-room,
but with more pacific intentions.” '*

Mohawk River

Island

North A
NTS

Figure 3.4: Land sold to Daniel Connor by Charles Gray, Master in Chancery,
1831 (shaded), and by John and Sarah Herkimer, 1840 (hatched). (Henderson,
1998. SUNY CESF).
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Figure 3.5: Map of Herkimer County, 1857. Redrawn from John G. Waite
and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House, An Historic Structure Report (Albany,
NY: New York State Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 7. (Henderson, 1998.
SUNY CESF).
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Figure 3.6: Wood engraving of mansion, 1848. Benson J. Lossing, Pictorial
Field-Book of the Revolution. (Rutland, VT: Charles E. Tuttle Company, 1972
[1859]), 260.

Daniel and Matilda Connor sold one acre of land to Andrew A. Finck, Daniel
B. Winton and Andrew K. Morehouse on 16 September 1836."°  This land was along
the south bank of the canal and across from the island (see figure 3.7). An 1857 map
of Herkimer County (figure 3.5) shows a Fink’s Ferry operating in the Mohawk River,
and a later map from 1868 (see figure 3.8) shows that the Fink’s owned the island in
the Mohawk River, and were operating a dry dock and grocery on the south side of the
river across from the island.
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In August of 1845 Daniel Connor and Matilda, his wife, sold a parcel of
approximately one half acre (109° long [NW/SE] by 66° wide [NE/SW]) and the right
of way to and from the parcel'® to Thomas Reed, Anson H. Holmes, John A. Holmes,
Jacob Dominick and Warren Herkimer (see figure 3.7)."7 This parcel was the original
Herkimer family burial ground, and all the men except Thomas Reed were
descendents of the Herkimer family; Reed was a neighbor.

Molawk River
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Figure 3.7: Land sold to Fink, Minton and Morehouse by D. Connor, 1836,
known as Fink’s Basin (shaded). Also, bunial ground land sold to Reed,
Holmes, Holmes, Dominick and Herkimer by D. Connor, 1845 (shaded).
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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Figure 3.8: Map of Herkimer County, 1868. Redrawn from John G. Waite
and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House, An Historic Structure Report (Albany,
NY: New York State Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 8. (Henderson, 1998.

SUNY CESF).
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After Daniel Connor’s death, Calvin Connor, Jacob Connor and Martha
Connor sold 160 acres to Morgan Bidleman, in 1864, 1865 and 1867, respectively (see
figure 3.9)."® It is believed that Daniel Connor willed the land equally to his heirs, and
therefore Bidleman had to buy the property separately from the three of them.

Morgan Bidleman (1803-1892) had married Ann Windecker (1824-1868) in
1851. They were the parents of at least three children, Frederick (1855-1890), Louisa
(1856-1873), and Mary Gertrude (1857-1922). ' Morgan Bidleman and his family
did not live in the mansion located on the property; Mr. Bidleman rented it to tenants.
It is not known if all of the tenants farmed the land, but at least one family, the
Hoffmans, did. The property was not well taken care of during this tenure, and the
house and outbuildings fell into serious disrepair.’® Mr. Bidleman owned a
considerable amount of land on the north side of the Mohawk River as well as on the
south side, and presumably did not have the time and/or the inclination to maintain the
Herkimer site.

Morgan Bidleman’s daughter, Mary Gertrude, inherited the property upon
Morgan’s death in 1892. Mary Gertrude Bidleman had married William Delano
Garlock (1855-1934), a doctor, on 22 November 1881. William D. Garlock was a
descendent of Palatine German immigrants who settled in the Tryon county area cf the
Mohawk Valley. His great, great grandfather, Conrad Timmerman, and his great,
great, great grandfathers Johan Jost Snell and Jacob Timmerman, were patentees of
the original Snell-Timmerman Patent granted in the middle part of the eighteenth
century.21 The Snell-Timmerman Patent was located on the north side of the Mohawk
River, almost directly across from the portion of the Lindesay-Livingston Patent
purchased by Johan Jost and Hendrick Herkimer (see figure 1.3).

Dr. and Mrs. Garlock had three children, Morgan Bidlerman Garlock (1882-?),
Louise Garlock (1884-7), and Gertrude Garlock (1886-1982). Gertrude Bidleman
Garlock and her husband, Dr. William D. Garlock did not live on the property. They
rented the farm to tenants until 1913. George Hoffman and his family were the last
known people to inhabit the mansion, from 1890 to 1913, before the property was sold
to New York State. The Hoffman family was apparently given a burial plot in the
cemetery, just to the east of the Herkimer Monument, by Morgan Bidleman.*

In 1895 Mrs. Garlock sold a two and two-fifths acre parcel of land to the
People of the State of New York in anticipation of the General Herkimer Monument
being erected on the site of the original burial ground (see figure 3.10). The parcel was
located to the north and west of the burial ground. At the same time, Mrs. Garlock
also deeded several public access rights-of-way on the property. A right of way was
deeded for both the north and south entrance roads to the site; another right-of-way
was located between the east side of the entry road and the northwest side of the burial
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ground.23 Jacob Connor and Elinor Walrath, heirs of Daniel Connor, signed a quit
claim for the burial ground in 1895,** and so did all the living descendents of Anson
and John Holmes, Thomas Reed, Jacob Dominick and Warren Herkimer.”

Mohawk River

Island
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NTS

Figure 3.9: Land sold to Morgan Bidleman, 1864, 1865, and 1867 (shaded).
(Henderson, 1998. SUNY CESF).
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In 1896 a report was generated by the General Herkimer Monument
Commission and sent to Governor Morton of New York State. The report detailed
recommendations that included a monument and perimeter wall design, a carriage
road from the main hjghway (probably present day Rt. 169) to the burial ground, and a
p]an to put the premises in order.”® The Commission members had been instrumental
in tracking down all the individuals with claims to the burial ground, and convmcmg
them to relinquish their claims, with the exception of future interment rights.*’ This
permitted the State of New York to have ownership of the cemetery and public access
to it. The state was therefore in a position to make the necessary final arrangements
for installation of the monument and the perimeter wall.
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Figure 3.10: Map from Herkimer Monument Commission Report, 1896. The
square formed by the outer dotted lines represents the area to be enclosed by a
perimeter wall. (HHSHS File, Cemetery).
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Dr. and Mrs. William D. Garlock subsequently sold five parcels of land,
totaling approximately 150 acres, to the People of the State of New York in 1913, and
thus ended the third historic period.

Environment

Social/Cultural — The first half of the nineteenth century was a time of growth
and prosperity for the Mohawk Valley region that had suffered so greatly during the
Revolutionary War. Little Falls and the surrounding areas exhibited tremendous
changes during this period. Total population numbers for Herkimer County were
recorded at fairly regular intervals by means of a census. The population was
approximately fourteen thousand in 1800; it had more than doubled to over thirty one
thousand by 1820, and then grew at a steady rate until 1875 when a total of forty one
thousand people were inhabiting the county. At that time, there were more than 3500
county farms, seven of which were estimated to be over 1000 acres in size. Comn,
potatoes, hops, oats, butter and cheese were among the largest crops and dairy
products produced in the area. 2

A canal with locks had been built at Little Falls near the end of the eighteenth
century by the Inland Navigation Company,” and it was still considered to be in
workable condition as late as 1825 (see figure 3.11).*°® After construction of the Erie
Canal, the canal at Little Falls was converted for use as a power source by nearby
mills.>' An aqueduct and canal basin had been constructed over the Mohawk River in
1823 to allow bateaux and other river craft access to factories in Little Falls for pick-
up and delivery of materials.

Entrepreneurs, farmers and merchants sought a better way to transport goods
back and forth from central New York to the Great Lakes and the Atlantic coast.
DeWitt Clinton, a former New York State legislator, New York City Mayor and
United States Senator, had become convinced of the practicality and possibility of
building a canal that would stretch from Albany to Buffalo, thus avoiding the many
rapids and falls that made travel along the Mohawk and other marginally navigable
waters so slow and often dangerous. Such a waterway would provide a viable link
between the Great Lakes and the eastern states, and open up trade along the entire
route. Clinton and other influential citizens of New York State tried for several years
to raise financial support for the project through the federal government, but finally
realized that state support would be necessary to accomplish their goals. DeWitt
Clinton won the governorship of New York with a pro-canal platform, and work
started in Rome, New York, in 1817. *> By 1819 the Canal was finished from Rome
to Utica, and by 1821 barges could travel from the Genesee River, near Rochester, to
the bottom of the locks at Little Falls. At some time after 1821, the section of Erie
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Canal that passed through the Herkimer property was constructed. The Erie Canal
was completed, with great fanfare, on 26 October 1825.%

Building the canal was a major undertaking that required huge amounts of
physical labor. Immigrants began moving to areas where construction was occurring,
and swelled local populations. Little Falls became the new home for hundreds of
canal workers, especially recent Irish immigrants.”® Many of the workers stayed in the
area after the canal was completed in 1825, and were employed by railroad companies
or by the numerous factories that utilized the energy from the falls and the old Inland
Navigation Company canal. Churches, schools and houses were built to accommodate
the influx of new settlers, as the region became a flourishing commercial success.

Figure 3.11: Remnant of Little Falls’ aqueduct, c. 1823. From The Mohawk
Valley: Its Legends and Its History, 1901, p. 369.

Although climate conditions remained relatively stable in the Mohawk Valley
during this period, a natural occurrence somewhat changed the outcome of wheat
production. Wheat had been one of the major agricultural products grown in the Little
Falls area until approximately the 1820s. At that time, wheat fields were infested with
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insect pests; this reduced the quality and quantity of the crop. Concurrently, the Erie
Canal allowed western New York and Ohio farmers to ship their grain more cheaply
and to wider markets. The combination of these factors soon led to a changeover from
wheat and other grain growing practices to the establishment of dairy farms and dairy
products as prominent industries, and altered the overall agricultural pattern for the
region.”> It undoubtedly also affected the crop and land use choices on the Herkimer

Home property.

The popularity of the Erie Canal and water travel gradually waned as railroads
began to compete for shipping contracts and passengers. In an effort to revive
declining interest, canal improvements were implemented from 1835 to 1862, mainly
to increase the depth and width of the passageway to accommodate larger flatboats
and barges (see figure 3.12). From an original top width of forty feet, the canal width
was enlarged to seventy feet, and the depth was increased from four feet to seven feet.
More changes occurred in 1903 with the formation of the New York State Barge
Canal System. At that time, both the initial and the improved Erie Canal structures
that were located on the Bidleman property were abandoned. The Mohawk River was
dredged and its course was altered to provide a better route through the Mohawk
Valley for shipments headed east and west.

Figure 3.12: Mohawk River and the improved Erie Canal at Fink’s Basin,
c.1882, looking east. Note the island in the upper middle portion of the
photograph. Virginia B. Kelly, et al., Wood and Stone, Landmarks of the
Upper Mohawk Region. (Utica: NYS Council on the Arts, 1972), 35.
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Railroads began to supplant the canals as a transportation method around the
middle of the nineteenth century. By the beginning of the twentieth century, when the
Barge Canal was completed, two railroad companies were carrying freight and
passengers through the Mohawk Valley. On the north side of the river, the Utica and
Schenectady Railroad had started operations in 1836, and had produced enviable
profits for its stockholders.’® The railroad later became part of the huge New York
Central Railroad. In the 1880s an enterprising group of businessmen bought a
bankrupt competitor of the New York Central line, renamed it the New York West
Shore and Buffalo Railroad, and commenced construction on the south side of the
Mohawk River. Rail lines were constructed from New Jersey to Albany and Syracuse,
and the tracks were laid parallel to the original Erie Canal path in the Little Falls area.
Limited operations commenced in 1883; however, the New York Central soon cut
rates to drive the competition out of business. The New York West Shore and Buffalo
Railroad could not compete with the huge New York Central line; by 1884 a majority
of the New York West Shore and Buffalo Railroad stock had been sold to the
Pennsylvania Railroad.*’

A major national occurrence during the third ownership period that had a
profound effect on the Mohawk Valley was the Civil War (1861-1865). Six
companies of soldiers were raised from Herkimer County. These infantry companies,
together with five other companies from surrounding counties, comprised the 34™
regiment. The “Herkimer County Regiment”, as the 34™ was known, started the long
march to Washington, Antietam and Fredericksburg in June of 1861. Slightly mare
than half of the soldiers survived and were able to return to central New York in
1863.*® War had once again claimed a large portion of the male population in the
Mohawk Valley, but at least the area had not suffered great physical damage. New
industries and commerce continued to propel the region toward even better economic
and social success.

Modemn technologies were also helping to make life easier and safer for
residents. The Village of Little Falls had produced local newspapers since the 1820s;
initially the type was set and printed by hand, but in the 1870s steam power was
available for paper presses. By the 1880s, individual businessmen or building owners,
that were once forced to keep buckets of sand and water handy to fight fires, had
evolved into several different fire brigades that used modern steam engines for
pumping water. Banks were organized and well established by the turn of the century,
and attention was focused on educational pursuits.”’> Mohawk Valley communities
had survived nearly a hundred years of change and progress, and emerged in the 1900s
stronger than ever before.
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Landscape Context

During the third historic period, the Herkimer family landholdings were sold
several times, thus changing property boundaries. John Van Orden and his wife Caty
bought five parcels of land, totaling 222 acres of property, from John and Polly
Herkimer in 1814. The Van Ordens also bought a 12-acre parcel from Peter
Domenick; this brought their holdings to approximately 234 acres, and significantly
altered the boundaries of the property. Construction of the Erie Canal was initiated
during the Van Orden’s tenure, and resulted in major changes to both the property
boundaries and the physical condition of the land.

Ann Leverse assumed title to the land owned by the Van Ordens in 1825, and
promptly sold it to David Leavitt. The canal was complete and heavily trafficked by
the time Leavitt became the owner. Unfortunately, David Leavitt died just six years
later, in 1831, and his wife was forced to sell the property.

Daniel Connor was the next owner; he purchased 210 acres of the Leavitt
estate in 1831, and then bought the 52-acre Stone Ridge section from John and Sarah
Herkimer in 1840. Connor also acquired another 50-acre parcel from the Herkimers
sometime in the next few years. Several changes were implemented on the inside and
outside of the mansion during Connor’s tenure, a bridge was built over the Erie Canal,
and a building was constructed on the south side of the canal. Daniel and Matilda
Connor sold a one-acre plot of land on the south side of the canal to Andrew A. Finck
(Fink), Daniel B. Winton and Andrew K. Morehouse in 1836. A dry dock and grocery
were located on the site.

A parcel, which included the burial ground/cemetery and a right-of-way, was
conveyed to a group of Herkimer descendants, and one of their neighbors, by Daniel
and Matilda Connor in 1845. Some alterations were made to the original Erie Canal;
the canal was widened and deepened and a curve just northwest of the mansion was
removed. The Connors lodged a complaint against the canal for damage that was
sustained during the alterations.

Daniel Connor’s combined heirs sold a 160-acre portion of the property to
Morgan Bidleman in 1864, 1865 and 1867. The New York West Shore and Buffalo
Railroad established tracks between the canal and the mansion in the 1880s. Morgan
Bidleman and his family did not occupy the mansion during his ownership period.
The residence was rented and the property fell into serious disrepair.

Mary Gertrude Bidleman Garlock, the only surviving heir of Morgan

Bidleman, and her husband, William D. Garlock, inherited the property in 1892. A
parcel of land surrounding the burial ground on its north and west sides, and
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comprised of approximately two and two-fifths acres of land, was sold to the People of
the State of New York by Mrs. Garlock in 1895. A public right-of-way for access to
the cemetery was also sold to the State of New York in 1895 by Mrs. Garlock .*°

The Garlocks conveyed approximately 150 acres, made up of five separate
parcels, to the People of the State of New York in 1913.

Natural Systems and Features

Climate — The climate patterns in the Mohawk Valley remained relatively
stable throughout this period. Flooding of the alluvial river plain frequently occurred
in the spring, summers were often hot and dry, and winters were cold and brought the
likelihood of large amounts of snow.

Topography

OVERALL SITE:

Significant changes occurred to the topography during the John Van Orden et
al ownership period. The Erie Canal was built and subsequently enlarged; a section of
the actual canal channel was also modified from a curved alignment to a linear
alignment. A raised railroad bed and tracks were also constructed just south of and
parallel to the canal, and just north of the mansion.

OUTER ACREAGE:

No topographic map exists for this entire period, however, beginning in 1814
and continuing intermittently until 1913, the topography doubtless changed as various
parcels of land were sold at several different times to several different owners. Few
specific changes can be documented, but it is reasonable to assume that some did
occur. The Fink’s boat basin and dry dock were built to the west of the mansion, and
required a large amount of cut and fill to dredge a navigable area for barges and boats.
An access road to the basin was likely added, which would also have required some
cut and fill to provide a level surface for land vehicle accessibility. Other roads and
structures were probably built as new owners rearranged the landscape to suit their
personal needs, resulting in other instances of varying amounts of cut and fill.
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RAVINE AND PLATEAU SPACE:

The topography in the ravine and plateau space might have been altered during
the third ownership period to construct entry roads or agricultural roads. It is probable
that any alterations were relatively minor, but no information was found during
research for this report to document any of the specific changes that might have
occurred.

ALLUVIAL RIVER PLAIN SPACE:

The topography in the alluvial river plain space was probably slightly altered
along the southern edge of the Mohawk River to provide stabilization when the
steamboat landing was constructed in ¢.1896. No other information was found during
research for this report concerning topography alterations in the alluvial river plain
space for the third ownership period.

CORRIDOR SPACE:

The topography in the corridor space northeast of the mansion was greatly
altered during the construction of the Erie Canal and towpath in the 1820s, and again
when the canal was widened, deepened and realigned in the 1830s and 1840s. A large
amount of cut and fill was required for excavation and subsequent enlarging of the
original canal bed, and significant cut and fill was again involved when the new,
straight channel was dug just south of the curved section. Moderate changes in the
topography, specifically cut and fill, were also effected by the New York West Shore
and Buffalo Railroad when a rail bed was constructed and tracks were laid
approximately 50 feet northeast of the northeast elevation of the mansion in the 1880s.
The rail bed continued across the entire width of the property.

CENTRAL CORE:

The topography in the central core was probably altered when the large barn #2
was constructed in c.1840, approximately 220 feet southwest of the mansion, due to
the cut and fill activities that accompany normal building processes, and also due to
alterations of the slope of the hill on which the barn was built. Other minimal grade
changes may have been made when entry and farm roads were constructed and/or
moved.
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Buildings and Structures
OVERALL SITE:

There were three documented extant buildings and structures at the close of the
second ownership period; the mansion, the root cellar, and an outbuilding that might
have originally served as a slave quarters or a barn. Five new buildings were
documented during the third ownership period; the large barn #1; the large bamn #2;
the small barn/shed; the canal building and Connor’s store.

OUTER ACREAGE:

RAVINE AND PLATEAU SPACE:

There were no buildings or structures documented in the ravine and plateau
space during this ownership period.

ALLUVIAL RIVER PLAIN SPACE:

Steamboat Landing — The steamboat landing was probably constructed before
1896; the exact date is unknown.*' It was located along the south bank of the Mohawk
River, approximately 800 feet northeast of the mansion (see figure 3.10). No
documentation was found concerning shape, size, material or color during research for
this report.

CORRIDOR SPACE:

Canal Building — The canal building was constructed prior to 1834; the exact
date is unknown. It was located on the north side of the Erie Canal, adjacent to the
towpath, and approximately 450 feet northeast of the mansion. It was rectangular,
approximately 60’ long (NE/SW) by 40° wide (NW/SE). > The canal store was
probably constructed of wood, and had a side gable roof. No documentation was
found concerning color during research for this report. The canal building might have
been used for canal maintenance, or for a store, or both.

Erie Canal/Towpath — The Erie Canal was constructed between 1817-1825.
The portion of the Canal on the site was completed in ¢.1823; the exact date is
unknown. It was located northeast of the mansion, and just south of the alluvial river
plain. The Canal was linear, approximately 3500’ long (NE/SW) by 40° wide
(NW/SE) at the surface, 28’ wide at the bottom, and 4’ deep. It was constructed of
compacted soil and stone. The towpath was located directly adjacent to the north side
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of the Canal. It was linear, approximately 3500’ long (NE/SW) by 10° wide (NE/SW).
The towpath was constructed of compacted soil.

The canal’towpath was enlarged between 1835-1862 because of the huge
traffic volume, and a desire to accommodate larger watercraft in order to compete with
the railroad industry. A curved section of the Canal northwest of the mansion was
abandoned, and a new straight channel was cut within the property, to the south of the
curve, approximately 60’ north of the mansion (see figure 3.13). The new channel
within the property was linear, approximately 1200’ long (NE/SW) by 70° wide
(NW/SE) and 7’ deep. It was constructed of compacted soil and stone. A new
towpath was constructed directly adjacent to the north side of the new Canal channel.
The towpath was constructed of compacted soil. It was approximately 1200’ long
(NE/SW) by 10° wide (NW/SE). The new towpath was constructed of compacted soil.

Bridge #1 — The bridge #1 was constructed in c.1825; the exact date is
unknown. It was located approximately 185 feet northeast of the mansion. The bridge
was linear, approximately 50° long (NW/SE) by 20’ wide (NE/SW) and of unknown
height. It was probably constructed of wood. No documentation was found
concerning architectural type or color during research for this report.

Bridge #2 — The bridge #2 was constructed in c.1862; the exact date is
unknown. It was located approximately 100 feet northeast of the mansion. The bridge
was linear, approximately 100’ long (NW/SE) by 25° wide (NE/SW) and of unknown
height. It was constructed of wood. The southernmost section of the bridge was
constructed in a style known as a timber Whipple truss bridge (see figure 3.14).

The northern section of the bridge had a different style; it was composed of
wood uprights joined by a wooden handrail. No documentation was found concerning
color during research for this report. There were two bridge abutments for the southern
section of the bridge #2. The abutments were approximately 25’ long at the base
(NE/SW) and 15’ long at the top by 1’ 6” wide (NW/SE) by 15° high and were
constructed from stones that varied in size and were gray in color.

New York West Shore and Buffalo Railroad Bed — The New York West Shore
and Buffalo Railroad bed was constructed in ¢.1880. It was located approximately 50’
north of the mansion, and continued to the east and west through the whole property.
The bed was linear, approximately 3500° long (NE/SW) by 30” wide (NW/SE), and
consisted of two sets of parallel metal rails laid at right angles over wooden ties. Each
set of rails had a width of approximately 8 feet, while a distance of approximately 10
feet separated the sets of rails just north of the mansion. The distance between the sets
of rails increased to approximately 45 feet near the eastern border of the property. A
right-of-way was probably purchased from Morgan Bidleman by the railroad
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company, prior to the construction of the railroad bed, but no documentation was
found to support this assumption. **
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Figure 3.13: Detail of New York State canal map, 1920. NYS Thruway
Authority, Historic Maps).
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Figure 3.14: Bridge #2 across improved Erie Canal, ¢.1900. (HHSHS,
Research File).

Railroad Bridge — The railroad bridge was constructed in c.1880; the exact date
is unknown. It crossed the stream approximately 1400’ northwest of the mansion.
The railroad bridge was linear, approximately 26 long (NE/SW) by 35 wide
(NW/SE) and 12’ high. It was made of cut stone and concrete. The culvert was added
underneath the railroad bridge in ¢.1910. It was circular, approximately 36’ long
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(NW/SE) by 8’ wide (NE/SW) by 9’ high. The culvert was made of concrete, and was
probably added to provide more stability and protection for the bridge supports.

Concrete Posts — The concrete posts were probably constructed in c.1880 along
the north side of the railroad bed, approximately 140 feet east of State Route 169. The
concrete posts were rectangular, and approximately 1”7 long by 9” wide; the height is
unknown. It is believed that the posts formed the support for an electric transformer
used by the railroad.

CENTRAL CORE:
East Field Space:

MANSION SUBSPACE:

Mansion — The mansion underwent several changes between 1831-1860. A
two-story porch with three bays was built on the north side of the exterior in the
1840s, and the entire house was remodeled in the Greek Revival style. Connor also
raised the roof, added Greek Revival cornices with ‘eyebrow’ windows to the north
fagade, and built a new porch on the south exposure.** A small addition was adjoined
to the southwest comer of the building sometime before 1834 (see figure 3.3). The
building’s interior was renovated by Connor at approximately the same time, possibly
to accommodate a tavern business.*

The mansion’s exterior was not maintained (see figure 3.15 and figure 3.16)
during the tenure of Morgan Bidleman (1864-1882) and the subsequent tenure of his
daughter, Mary Gertrude Bidleman Garlock (1882-1913). It is likely that the interior
suffered from neglect as well, although no documentation was found for
corroboration.  Photographs taken after 1896, when the monument to General
Herkimer was erected and the stone wall was constructed around the perimeter of the
cemetery, and prior to 1913, when the property was acquired by the State of New
York, show an obvious lack of attention to upkeep (see figures 3.17, 3.18 and 3.19).
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Figure 3.15: Northeast elevation of the mansion, ¢.1900. (HHSHS, Research
File).

Root Cellar — The root cellar was extant during this period. No information
was found during research to document any changes that might have been made to this
building during the third ownership period.

Outbuilding — The outbuilding was extant in 1834, but was removed sometime

before 1896.*" It is not known if any changes occurred to the outbuilding before it was
removed.
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Figure 3.16: Northeast elevation of the mansion, ¢.1912. (HHSHS, Research
File).

Large Barn #1 — The large barn #1 was probably constructed in ¢.1830; the
exact date is unknown. It was located on the site just above and to the south of the
root cellar, approximately 30 feet south of the southwest corner of the mansion. It was
rectangular, approximately 40° long (NE/SW) by 60° wide (NW/SE) and 2 ' stories
high. The barn was constructed of wood, and probably was unpainted. It had a side
gable roof with a shed roof addition on both the northeast and southwest elevations.
The roof had shingles of unknown material and color (see figure 3.18). “8 Doors were
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located on the eastern side of the southwest elevation, and in the center of the
northeast elevation.

Small Barn/Shed — The small barn/shed was probably constructed in ¢.1890;
the exact date is unknown. It was located approximately 20 feet west of the mansion,
and just to the northeast of the large bamn #1. It was rectangular, approximately 25’
long (NE/SW) by 15” wide (NW/SE) and 1 % stories high. The small barn/shed was
constructed of wood, and probably was unpainted. It had a side gable roof with
shingles of unknown material and color. Doors were located in the middle of the
northeast and southeast elevations (see figure 3.18).

Figure 3.17: Southwest elevation of the mansion, ¢.1900. (HHSHS, Research
File).
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LARGE BARN #2 SUBSPACE:

Large Barn #2 — The large bam #2 was constructed in ¢.1840. [t was located
approximately 220 feet southwest of the mansion. It was rectangular,'® approximately
50” long (NW/SE) by 30° wide (NE/SW) and three stories high. The large barn #2
had a fieldstone foundation, and was constructed of wood. No documentation was
found for the color of the building. It had a side gable roof with a raised cross gable
extension on the northwest end of the roof, and a shed roof across the gable end on the
southwest elevation. No information concerning roof material and color was found
during research for this report.

Figure 3.18: Southwest elevation of the mansion, ¢.1912. (HHSHS, Research
File).
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East Field Space:

Connor’s Store — Connor’s store was constructed before 1857; the exact date is
unknown. Connor’s store was approximately 70 feet east of the mansion, on the south
side of the improved Erie Canal, and was probably rectangular. No further
information was found during research for this report to document the shape, size,
material or color of the store.™® Connor’s store was removed before 1913; the exact
date is unknown.

Figure 3.19: General Herkimer Monument, cemctery, large bam #1, small
barn and mansion, ¢.1900. View is to the northwest. (HHSHS, Research
File).
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Corncrib — The comncrib was constructed prior to 1896; the exact date is
unknown. It was located several vards south and slightly east of the mansion and a
few yards west of the cemetery, between the cemetery wall and the large barn #2 (see
figure 3.18). It was rectangular, approximately 8’ long (NW/SE) by 5’ wide (NE/SW)
and 8’ high. The corncrib was constructed of wood, and probably was unpainted. It
had a slanted wood roof that was probably unpainted (see figure 3.20).

Figure 3.20: Comncrb, c. 1900. View is to the southwest. (HHSHS, Research
File).
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Mechanical Systems

Well — The well was constructed before 1895; the exact date is unknown. It
was located approximately 20 feet northwest of the northwest corner of the mansion.
It was circular, approximately 5° in diameter, and of unknown depth. The well was
constructed of compacted soil and stone. The hand pump was approximately 4’ high
and probably made of metal. No documentation was found concerning color during
research for this report.

Site Engineering Systems
CORRIDOR SPACE:

Canal Retaining Wall and Culvert — The canal retaining wall and culvert were
probably constructed in c¢.1840, the exact date is unknown. The retaining wall was
approximately 330 feet northwest of the mansion, along the south side of the canal. It
was basically linear, approximately 110 long (NE/SW) by 1’ 3” wide (NW/SE) by 4’
high. A reinforcing strut was located on the northeast end of the wall, approximately
10° long (NW/SE) by 1’ 3 wide (NE/SW) by 10’ high at the south end and 2 high at
the north end. A section of stone wall, approximately 6’ long (NW/SE) by 1’ 6’ wide
(NE/SW) by 2’ high, adjoined the north end of the reinforcing strut and connected it
with Erie Canal culvert #67. The retaining wall was probably originally constructed
of three to four courses of cut stone. At some later point, probably in c.1880 when the
railroad bed was constructed, a formed concrete overlay was added to the top of the
wall, which made the total height approximately 10 feet.

Railroad Retaining Wall and Culvert — The railroad retaining wall and culvert
were probably constructed in ¢.1880; the exact date is unknown. They were located
approximately 240 feet northeast of the mansion. The culvert was linear,
approximately 60’ long (NE/SW) and constructed of metal pipe with a 2° 4™ diameter
circular opening. The retaining wall was approximately 8’ long (NE/SW) by 1’ wide
(MW/SE) by 4’ high. The retaining wall was constructed of gray fieldstone and
mortar, with a capstone on top.

Vegetation
OVERALL SITE:

Little documentation was found to describe the woodlands, agricultural fields
or vegetation added or removed during this ownership period. Historic photographs,
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sketches of the mansion and surrounding area, a brief description of the site by
Lossing and an occasional deed provided the only information available concerning
vegetation.

OUTER ACREAGE:

Agricultural Fields - No documentation was found during research regarding
agricultural fields during John Van Orden’s tenure. It is believed that David Leavitt
attempted to engage in agronomy of some sort during his brief ownership, and
possibly his wife tried to maintain those practices before she sold the property. Daniel
Connor was known to be a farmer, but ne documentation has been found to determine
which parcels of the site he might have used for growing crops and which parcels he
used for pasture. Morgan Bidleman’s tenants were likely farmers, and it can be
documented that the last known family (the Hoffmans) to occupy the house during Dr.
and Mrs. William D. Garlock’s ownership were indeed farmers.

CENTRAL CORE:
West Field Space:

MANSION SUBSPACE:

Northeast and Southeast Sides of Mansion — The northeast and southeast sides
of the mansion during Daniel Connor’s ownership were planted with several trees and
some shrubs (see figure 3.6). The ground plane surrounding the house was minimally
maintained. The most apparent vegetation was deciduous trees, one or two small
shrubs, and some type of grass or groundcover. One large tree, probably an evergreen
species, was centered several feet from the southeast side of the mansion. A small
grouping of unidentified shrubs and trees was also present at the northwest corner of
the mansion.

Another sketch of the house, c.1879, showed a similar display of vegetation
(see figure 3.21).°" However, the small porch that Daniel Connor was replacing in
1848 was still present in the sketch, thus making it impossible to tell if the vegetation
shown was a faithful depiction of what actually existed at the time of publication in
1879, or simply a different artist’s interpretation of the earlier engraving.
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Figure 3.21: Sketch of northeast and southeast elevations of mansion. The
structure visible behind the left side of the mansion is probably the large barn
#1. F. W. Beers & Co., History of Herkimer County, New York, With
[lustrations. (Ovid, NY: W. E. Morrison & Co., 1980 [1879]), frontispiece.

In ¢.1900, the area northeast of the mansion was used as pasture. It is possible
that other areas were used for pasture, but no further documentation was found. One
large tree, possibly an evergreen species, was located a few feet from the northeast
comner of the mansion, and a large deciduous tree was located several feet east of the
first tree (see figure 3.22).

Southwest and Northwest Sides of Mansion — The southwest and northwest
sides of the mansion in ¢.1848 contained several large trees visible above the roofline
and therefore perhaps 40’ or 50’ tall (see figure 3.6) A variety of deciduous trees,
species unknown, were prevalent.
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Figure 3.22: Area northeast of mansion used for pasture, ¢.1900. (HHSHS,
Unit 7, Box 14, HH 1996.40).

During the Hoffman’s tenure, in ¢.1900, the area southeast of the mansion was
probably used as pasture for the Hoffman’s livestock. Rufus Grider’s 1899 sketch
portrays animals grazing in this area (see figure 3.23).

A large deciduous tree, species unknown, was growing at the northwest corner
of the mansion in ¢.1912, and a small deciduous tree, species unknown, was planted
Just inside a barbed wire fence delineating the New York West Shore and Buffalo
Railroad right-of-way, approximately 30 feet from the northeast wall of the mansion.
A climbing vine, species unknown, was located near the northwest corner of the two-
story porch that was attached to the northeast wall of the mansion (see figure 3.16).
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Figure 3.23: Land southeast of mansion used for pasture, from a sketch by
Rufus J. Grider, 1899. (Courtesy of Montgomery. Co. Dept of History and
Archives, Fonda, NY).

Three large deciduous trees were located on the south side of the house
between 1896-1913. One tree, located just a few feet from the southeast corner, was a
sugar maple. The second tree, species unknown, was located several feet to the south,
and the third tree, species unknown, was several yards beyond the second tree. A few
small trees or shrubs were located between the first two large trees; based on form and
habit these shrubs were probably a lilac species. A variety of deciduous trees, species
unknown, were growing on the upward slope just southwest of the large barn (see
figure 3.19).

Unidentified species of grass and general pasture vegetation were informally

maintained on the base plane in the entire area immediately surrounding the mansion.
The same ground cover appeared to be growing throughout the central core area.
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West Field Space:

Burial Ground — Base plane vegetation in the burial ground was most likely
consistent with the ground cover found in the rest of the central core, especially in the
early part of the twentieth century. The only documentation found for this period was
a reference by Lossing during his visit to the Mohawk Valley in the late 1840s
concerning the unkempt state of the space surrounding General Herkimer's
gravestone.”> At some time before 1896 a deciduous tree, possibly an apple species,
was planted in the upper southeast comer of the burial area (see figure 3.24). After
1896, two small shrubs, species unknown, were growing between two headstones
located approximately 25 feet east of the General Herkimer monument.

Figure 3.24: Cemetery, c.1900, looking north. Note the tree just inside the
lower right corner of the wall. (HHSHS, Research File).
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Circulation
OVERALL SITE:

The hierarchy of the circulation system changed considerably over the course
of the third ownership period. Alignment of the original entrance road was altered.
Daniel Connor remodeled the mansion to provide service and lodging for canal-boat
customers, necessitating a path or paths from the canal to the mansion. Several
buildings were removed and others were built, thereby causing paths to be abandoned
or created between the mansion and other structures. Construction of the railroad
most likely forced other changes to occur in circulation patterns.

“Slea Routh” — The “slea routh” might have been used in the beginning of the
third ownership period, but it was probably abandoned when the Erie Canal was built
in c.1825. The eastern portion of the Canal was built on the approximate path of the
“slea routh”.

C.1857 Entrance Road — The c.1857 entrance road was constructed before
1857; the exact date is not known. It was located between the mansion and the main
highway located south of the property; it replaced the original entrance road. After an
initial northeast alignment leading from the main highway, the ¢.1857 entrance road
made an abrupt turn to the west, then turned northward, and finally was aligned again
toward the northeast (see figure 3.8, 3.25). In the central core, the ¢.1857 entrance
road was approximately 115 feet west of the burial ground, just to the east of the
mansion, and continued across the canal bridge #2. No documentation was found
during research to explain the multiple alignments. No documentation was found
concerning the dimensions or materials used for the c.1857 entrance road during
research for this report.

Farm Road — The farm road probably existed in some configuration throughout
the third historic period, from 1814 to 1913. The farm road was probably aligned with
the northern ends of canal bridges #1 and #2, and probably traversed the alluvial river
plain agricultural fields before connecting with the Mohawk River. No information
concerning exact date of construction, location, size, and materials was found during
research for this report.

Erie Canal and Towpath — The Erie Canal and towpath were constructed in c.
1823, and provided a major east-west transportation corridor through the site. In
c.1840, when the curve was removed, the improved Erie Canal formed a straighter
transportation corridor for barge traffic and the towpath provided a linear corridor for
pedestrian traffic and probably some motorized traffic (see Chapter 3, Buildings and
Structures).
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New York West Shore and Buffalo Railroad — The New York West Shore and
Buffalo Railroad, constructed in the 1880s, provided an east-west transportation
corridor through the site for trains (see Chapter 3, Buildings and Structures).

Mre
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Figure 3.25: C.1857 entrance road in c.1868. Enlargement from John G.
Waite and Paul R. Huey, Herkimer House, An Historic Structure Report
(Albany, NY: New York State Historic Trust, 1972), Map No. 8.
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Paths to the various buildings and structures were probably constructed at the
same time the buildings and structures were constructed; the exact dates for all are
unknown. A path from the Erie Canal to the mansion was probably constructed in
c.1825; the exact date is unknown. Paths to the burial ground were probably extant
for all the ownership tenures in the third historic period (1814-1913). A path probably
existed between the mansion and the burial ground, between the entry road and the
burial ground, and between the canal/railroad corridor and the burial ground. The
exact dates of construction are unknown. The paths were probably relatively linear.
No documentation was found concerning alignment, dimensions and materials for any
of the paths during research for this report. >

Right-of-way to Burial Ground — The right-of-way to the burial ground was in
effect after 1896, when the General Herkimer monument and the burial ground
perimeter wall were constructed. The right-of-way was linear, approximately 114’
long (NE/SW) by 50° wide (NW/SE).S" It is likely that a more formal path was
located on the right-of-way between the ¢.1857 entrance road and the entrance to the
burial ground (see figure 3.10). No documentation was found concerning exact
alignment, size or materials used for the path.

Spatial Organization/Relationships
OVERALL SITE:

Several changes in ownership and land use, construction and demolition of
buildings and mechanical systems, vegetation addition and/or removal, as well as
growth, all contributed to the physical and visual organization of forms in the
landscape. No information was found to document any specific alterations in spatial
configuration for the outer acreage, but construction of the Barge Canal (1903)
probably changed the spatial configuration of the alluvial river plain space. The
spatial organization of the corridor space changed dramatically with the construction
of the Erie Canal (1825), the improved Erie Canal (1835-1862), and the advent of the
New York West Shore and Buffalo Railroad (1880s). Construction of the Herkimer
Monument and the stone wall surrounding the cemetery also changed the spatial
organization of the central core, and resulted in a more articulated space.

OUTER ACREAGE:

RAVINE AND PLATEAU SPACE: The spatial configuration of the ravine and plateau
space, and any defining characteristics they are assumed to have, remained relatively
unchanged throughout the third ownership period, except for normal growth or loss of
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defining edge of the mansion space was the southern elevation of the large bamn #1.
The space changed again in c.1890 when the small barn/shed was constructed just to
the west of the mansion. By 1900, the mansion subspace was defined to the north by
the railroad bed, to the south by the southern elevation of the large barn #1, to the east
by the old entrance road, and to the west by the steep slope. The ground material was
probably pasture grass and the space was generally open to the sky.

Formal Garden — The spatial configuration of the formal garden, which was
documented in the second ownership period, does not appear on any maps or in any
descriptions of the property for the third ownership period. At some time after 1803,
and most likely after 1814, when John Herkimer sold the property to John Van Orden,
the garden was no longer extant. It is probable that the formal garden was removed
before the Erie Canal was completed in 1825.

SERVICE COURTYARD SUBSPACE: The spatial configuration of the service courtyard
subspace changed when the large bamn #1 was constructed in ¢.1830; the service
courtyard moved south, and the northern defining edge was the southern elevation of
the large barn #1. When the large barn #2 was constructed in ¢.1840, it provided a
defining edge to the west, and resulted in the service courtyard being extended
approximately 150 feet farther to the south. When the outbuilding southeast of the
mansion was removed, probably before 1868, it opened the space to the east. The<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>